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  Introduction




  The rules of the Academy of Tours forbid the audience from asking the speaker questions but not, it appears, from causing a riot. In 1997 I was invited to present a paper to

  this society of local notables and antiquaries by its president, a Jewish doctor, professor, writer and former member of the Resistance. Having undertaken a certain amount of oral history in the

  region, I entitled my talk ‘What the French of the Loire valley think in 1997 of the German Occupation’. The gist of the presentation was that under the four years of Occupation more

  complex relationships than those of brutal oppression had developed between Germans and French and that far from always going hungry the French had managed to keep themselves fed and even enjoy

  themselves. The president, who had recently suffered a bereavement, was unable to attend and the secretary, chairing the meeting in his place, had difficulty keeping order. At one point a man got

  to his feet and shouted, ‘What about the 230 people who were shot in Tours during the Occupation?’ At another moment, when I cited a country-dweller who said that her family had never

  wanted for food under the Occupation, there was a wave of murmuring and shaking of white heads in the room. Although two teachers whom I knew approached me after the talk to endorse what I had

  said, I was left with the feeling that I had defaced the tablets of stone on which the official history of the Occupation and Resistance had been written.




  The officers of the Academy, now rejoined by the president, wined and dined me in some style and the secretary invited me to submit my paper for publication in the proceedings of the Academy.

  Having read it, however, he returned it to me saying that, ‘While each of the examples rings true, your audience, myself included, failed to find in it the precise

  reflection of our collective memory of the German Occupation.’ The Occupation, during which he had taught at the Lycée of Orléans, he said, was characterized by four things:

  cold, hunger, the absence of freedom and above all fear. ‘At any moment’, he explained, ‘you could be arrested for a subversive remark, a contravention of the curfew, a violation

  of German legislation, a little transaction on the black market, or for listening to the BBC.’1 He criticized me for giving too much space to the

  ‘small minority of petty Angevin and Vendean nobles’ from further down the Loire who clearly sympathized with the Vichy regime, and then invited me to return to Tours to interview a

  Freemason who represented the more progressive opinions of Touraine.




  The following summer I duly returned to Tours to record the interview, fully prepared to revise many of my previous opinions. What I heard, however, was the exact opposite of what I had

  expected. While the interviewee’s father had indeed been a Freemason, he himself had steered well clear of an organization that was anathema to the Vichy regime and would have jeopardized his

  career. As a middle-ranking official in the prefecture of Tours, he had also kept well clear of the Resistance. Since he was in charge of the distribution of industrial products locally he was

  obliged to negotiate with the Germans and initially, he said, tried to resist their demands. But the Germans told him bluntly, ‘If that is how you feel, Monsieur, you will be in Germany

  tomorrow morning.’ At the trial of the secretary-general of the prefecture of Bordeaux, Maurice Papon, earlier that year, he added, it had been suggested that it was possible for French

  officials to resist the Gestapo. ‘That is simply not true,’ he asserted. To reinforce his point he told the story of two fellow officials and a friend who had annoyed the Germans or

  become involved in resistance and whose imprudence or stupidity had been rewarded by arrest, deportation or death. As for the Jews, he said, actually shedding a tear, ‘The Gestapo were

  arresting everybody. And to think that it happened in our country. We helped them to escape when we could, but we couldn’t always.’2




  The president and the secretary of the Academy of Tours, and the latter’s wife, were invited to the lunch that followed the interview at the official’s house, in Tours. Each took a

  radically different view of the Occupation. The secretary, who had returned my paper to me with a clear signal that it would not be published in the proceedings of the Academy,

  returned to his theme of the extreme severity of the Occupation. As an example he cited a French school inspector who told him not to set his pupils Latin texts from Tacitus, lest the Germans

  deemed that it encouraged resistance. His wife Camille sweetly contradicted him, suggesting that the Occupation posed no difficulties for those who went about their ordinary business. The

  prefecture official, in jovial mood, now boasted of what he called ‘the first act defying the enemy’. He recalled that, returning from the army after the defeat in 1940 to his home

  village, where on an isolated road a pine-log barrier signalled the demarcation line between the zone occupied by the Germans and the Free Zone, he amused the locals by painting the tail of the

  grocer’s dog red, white and blue and sending it under the barrier into the Occupied Zone. Meanwhile, on his arrival at the lunch, the president had quietly slipped me a cutting from a local

  paper from the time of the Papon trial entitled ‘Was there a Papon in Touraine?’ This argued that the prefectoral corps in Touraine, which included our host, had been ‘good

  servants of Vichy’.3 At lunch the resister questioned the patriotism of most French people under the Occupation, citing French officers in his POW camp

  in 1940 who with German officers had toasted the death of ‘the whore’ (la gueuse), as the Republic was known to its enemies. After we left the house where the lunch had been

  held, he referred to queues of French people eager to see the anti-Semitic Nazi propaganda film, The Jew Süss, stretching right around the block. He himself had forfeited both his

  professorship at the hospital and his medical practice as a result of Vichy’s anti-Semitic legislation, had been threatened with arrest after a German soldier was shot in Tours in 1942, and

  had fled for his life to the Free Zone, where he joined the Resistance.




  The most striking thing about these incidents is that in ordinary homes more than fifty years after the event the German Occupation is still a subject of heated debate, and a debate that is far

  from being resolved. This is explained in part by the shame and guilt felt by French people about the Occupation. Shame: a country that prided itself on its greatness was brought to its knees after

  a six-week war and was occupied, bullied and plundered by the hereditary enemy. Guilt: the country that defined itself from the French Revolution as being the cradle of liberty should hand over

  power to an authoritarian regime that was a puppet of the Third Reich, try to suppress all dissent, and hand over to the Germans Jews who had sought asylum in France as well as

  Jews who were fully French citizens, for deportation to Auschwitz. The explanation of the debate, however, also lies in the fact that the French have never faced up to their wartime past in any

  sustained and systematic way.4 Unlike in South Africa, no Truth and Reconciliation Commission was ever set up to allow the French openly to express their

  anger and remorse. After the first wave of purges for collaboration which were rapidly wound up in the interests of national unity several decades passed before the recent spate of trials for

  crimes against humanity – of the Gestapo chief in Lyon, Klaus Barbie (1987), of the Milice leader Paul Touvier (1994) and of the secretary-general of the prefecture of the Gironde, Maurice

  Papon (1997–8) – and arguably the waters of perception are now even muddier than before. Obstacles in the way of establishing an agreed version of the truth are not only intellectual.

  Much is at stake ideologically and politically in the interpretation of the Occupation period, and rival views are propagated and defended by interest groups who are constantly vigilant lest their

  orthodoxy be challenged and they refuse to give an inch in the struggle to impose their views as orthodoxy.




  The conversation at Tours suggested that there were three competing interpretations of what conditions were like in France under the German Occupation. The first was that resistance was the

  highest form of honourable conduct. For want of something grander, small gestures of resistance, such as sending a dog with a tricolour tail into the Occupied Zone, were magnified to assert the

  patriotic credentials of the ‘good Frenchman’, but it is interesting that the president of the Academy, who had resisted most, said least about it. The second view, on which the

  president concentrated, was that the Occupation was characterized less by the oppression of the Germans than by the cowardice and treachery of the French. Many, far from resisting, welcomed the

  demise of the Republic to further their ambitions and were happy to persecute Freemasons, communists and Jews, whom Vichy blamed for France’s decline and defeat. This was the story of the

  ‘bad French’ about whom subsequent generations felt such shame and guilt. The third view, that of the official in private and of the secretary in conversation, was that in what amounted

  to a Nazi dictatorship or SS state it was almost impossible to resist. The best option was to keep one’s head down and concentrate on more important things like finding

  enough food to eat and fuel to keep warm. There was, to complicate matters, even a fourth view, expressed almost inaudibly by the secretary’s wife and plainly contradicting what her husband

  had said. This was that in some respects the German Occupation had been benign, that the Germans had not been vicious towards those who minded their own business and that some sort of accommodation

  between French and Germans had been possible. However, like the contributions of the Dormouse at the Mad Hatter’s Tea Party, these opinions were dismissed as irrelevant and shelved without

  discussion.




  This local conversation would be of little consequence if it did not echo debates which have long gone on at a national level in France. Despite the argument that Nazi tyranny was so pervasive

  that all resistance was impossible, it was important for the French to recover a sense of honour and dignity by asserting that after their armies had been defeated they began actively to resist the

  German Occupation, as civilians, as best they could. Those who emerged from hiding, returned from German camps and came to power after the Liberation were in a position to write the history of the

  ‘good French’ who had resisted and claimed through their virtuous actions the authority to rule France. The account of the Resistance that they elaborated effectively became a religion,

  with a number of articles of faith. The first was that it began on 18 June 1940 when General de Gaulle, speaking on the BBC, called upon the French not to give up the struggle. In this way he

  became the repository of French legitimacy, coming into his inheritance on 25 August 1944 when he marched down the Champs-Élysées in liberated Paris. The second was that it was a pure

  and heroic movement, with a long roll-call of martyrs who died in the struggle to drive out the occupying forces. The third was that, however diverse the origins and opinions of the participants,

  the Resistance expressed a common commitment to such eternal French values as the Rights of Man and a One and Indivisible France. The fourth was that, though active resisters were a small minority,

  the Resistance was approved and supported by the vast mass of the French people, who emerged from the Occupation with their pride intact, since only a handful of traitors had collaborated with the

  enemy. The fifth article of the credo was that the Resistance, which continued the struggle where the French army had left off, had an indisputable military significance and

  alongside the Allies contributed significantly to the liberation of France.5




  The dominance of this story of the ‘good French’, however, was countered by the story of the ‘bad French’ who had not resisted but collaborated actively with the German

  occupiers. In his study of Vichy France published in 1972 the American historian Robert Paxton argued that at least until 1943 most French people had supported the Vichy regime which had declared

  for a policy of ‘collaboration’ with Germany. He also calculated that those who resisted the Germans had numbered no more than 2 per cent of the adult population, increased to a maximum

  of 10 per cent if those willing to read clandestine material put out by the Resistance are included.6 This interpretation was supported by Marcel

  Ophuls’ 1970 film, Le Chagrin et la pitié, subtitled ‘Chronicle of a French Town under the Occupation’. This showed the French to be far from heroic but

  self-seeking, cowardly, deceitful and self-deceiving. So much did it challenge the official view of the ‘good French’ that it was not shown on French television for ten

  years.7 More recently still, Resistance heroes who had enjoyed a virtual cult of personality, such as Jean Moulin, who was tortured to death by Klaus Barbie

  in 1943, or Raymond and Lucie Aubrac, who worked with Moulin and survived, have had their reputations challenged. It has been suggested, for instance, that Moulin, de Gaulle’s emissary to

  unite the squabbling Resistance movements in France, was in fact a Soviet agent, while Raymond Aubrac, who fell into Gestapo hands in 1943 and was then released, had been turned into an agent of

  Klaus Barbie and betrayed Moulin.8




  In recent years the story of the ‘bad French’ has begun to bite because of the debate about the involvement of Vichy France in the Holocaust. This was documented by Robert Paxton and

  Michael Marrus in 1981 and by Serge Klarsfeld in 1983.9 On 16 July 1992 Jewish organizations ensured maximum profile for the commemoration of the fiftieth

  anniversary of the round-up of 12,000 Jews by the French police under René Bousquet working hand in glove with the SS. President Mitterrand attended the ceremony but refused to accept any

  responsibility on the grounds that the crime had been committed not by the Republic, which had been abolished in 1940, but by the Vichy state. The following year René Bousquet, who was a

  friend of Mitterrand and thought to be protected from justice by him, was shot dead by a lone gunman who called at his flat. At the round-up commemoration in 1995 the new

  president of the Republic, Jacques Chirac, called the deportation a ‘collective offence’ for which the French must take responsibility.10 This

  admission marked a breakthrough in the French coming to terms with their past instead of heaping all blame for it on to a regime that had long gone and had been declared ‘null and void’

  by General de Gaulle, although not everyone agreed that the French should be so repentant. The Gaullist politician Philippe Séguin, whose father had died fighting for the Resistance,

  denounced the ‘climate of permanent collective expiation and self-flagellation of which a certain number of French people are becoming sick and tired’.11 Some historians, too, pointed out that the current debate had become so ‘Judaeo-centric’ that the German Occupation and Vichy had been reduced to a detail of the

  Holocaust.12




  The story of the ‘good French’ was increasingly tarnished but it was far too uncomfortable for French national identity simply to replace it with a story of the ‘bad

  French’. One way out was to make a distinction between the Vichy regime, which was admittedly bad, and the French people, who were basically good. Vichy may have deported Jews, it was said,

  but many more were saved than perished because ordinary French people fed, hid or otherwise helped them in their distress. Former President Giscard d’Estaing, whose family had weathered the

  Occupation in the Auvergne, argued at the time of the Papon trial that the French people may have welcomed the new head of state, Marshal Pétain, in 1940 but soon parted company with his

  government. Moreover, he asserted, ‘Between 90 and 95 per cent of French people did not even speak to a German during the five years of the Occupation. I am telling the French youth of today

  so that they do not have cause to be ashamed of their grandparents.’13 The theme of a major international conference organized by Jean-Pierre

  Azéma and François Bédarida in Paris in 1990 was Vichy and the French, suggesting that the two were now considered distinct entities.14 From the tension between the ‘good French’ and the ‘bad French’ emerged the ‘poor French’, who were portrayed, like the Jews, as victims and

  martyrs who had suffered intolerably under the Occupation from cold, hunger and fear. Dominique Veillon’s work on the survival of the French under occupation argues that ‘for the

  majority of the population, daily life was reduced to the obsession with food and cold. In the towns the average French person spent a good deal of their time looking for

  something to put in the pot.’15 The term les années noires – the dark years – first popularized in the title of a diary

  published in 1947 – was resurrected in the 1990s by leading historians Azéma, Bédarida and Rousso, and also adopted by Julian Jackson to characterize his 2001 survey of Vichy

  France.16




  Is it possible to find out, one may well ask, what really happened in France under the German Occupation? Are the true answers not there, buried in the archives? As an admirer of Richard

  Cobb, who after the war revealed to British and French historians alike the richness of French departmental archives, in his case for the period of the French Revolution, I was convinced that the

  secrets of life under the Occupation in la France profonde lay in the departmental, municipal and Church archives of provincial France. The archives of the wartime period were closed for

  several decades after the Liberation but a law of 3 January 1979 liberalized access by laying down a thirty-year rule. Exceptions were made for files ‘containing information likely to harm

  private individuals or concerning state security or national defence’, which were closed for sixty years, and judicial documents, including purge trials, which were closed for 100 years.

  Special dispensation might be granted to the bona fide historian, file by file, subject to the consent of the branch of the administration, police or judiciary which had deposited the files in the

  archives. Cautious officials, however, concerned less about state security than the good standing of the administration, may be reluctant to grant access to any documentation which might show that

  administration – of Vichy or otherwise – in a bad light. Over half the files consulted for this study were formally closed and special dispensation kindly granted. But some areas were

  more reluctant than others: in one department the archivist had to negotiate on my behalf with the prefecture for several months before access was permitted to a single classified file relating to

  the Occupation’s short-, medium- and long-term legacies. French archives were supplemented by the archives of German military administration, some of whose files were captured at Tours, some

  of which are kept in Paris, but most of which are preserved in the Bundesarchiv-Militärarchiv at Freiburg-im-Breisgau. There was, interestingly, no problem of access to the German archives in

  Freiburg, perhaps because the German state ceased to exist for some years after the war and its workings were exposed by the Allies. Typically, however, access to a short run of

  photocopies from the Freiburg archives relating to the assassination of the military governor of Nantes in 1941, and deposited in Nantes by a local historian, has been assumed by the mayor of

  Nantes as if they originated from the municipal administration.




  Even once access is granted there is no guarantee that the files have not been weeded to remove compromising documents. In 1946, for instance, the prefect of Maine-et-Loire sent round to his

  services a circular headed ‘Destruction of documents concerning racial distinctions between French people’, in which he explained that under the law of 9 August 1944 which

  re-established republican legality, ‘all traces of the exceptional legislation passed under the Occupation must be eradicated and all documents relating to Jewish identity must be

  destroyed’. The telltale copy of this circular discovered in the archives of the arrondissement of Cholet was annotated in pencil at the subprefecture: ‘Do we have any here? If

  so, destroy them. Notify police superintendent, captain of gendarmerie, mayors.’ The police commissaire of Cholet duly reported a week later that ‘the police commissariat of Cholet no

  longer has any files or indexes concerning Israelites who were resident in this district’.17




  Censorship can be exercised informally as well as formally by those who have a vested interest in a certain interpretation of the Occupation. One local historian of the Occupation period told me

  that he had received a number of threatening telephone calls during his publishing career and showed me one document only on condition that I would not publish it. It was a letter written in 1982

  by the widow of General Feldt, who had headed the German military administration in Angers in the latter part of the Occupation, recalling that her husband had been welcome in the château of

  one of the leading notables of the city, and that because of the shortage of petrol suffered by French people he regularly gave a lift to the man’s mother on his way to the city centre. The

  practitioner of this perfect example of ‘cohabitation’ could not be revealed without risk of a lawsuit because the habitual narrative of events would immediately present it as a form of

  collaboration.




  One of the shortcomings of administrative records, rich though they are, is that things are seen through the filter of the official mind. Of course it is possible to gain some impression of

  private lives and private opinions from reports written by the police or gendarmerie, from the interviews undertaken by investigating magistrates, or simply from letters of

  complaint or denunciation sent in to the administration. More eloquent were the diaries and written recollections I managed to trace, the jewel among which was the unpublished wartime diary of the

  bishop of Nantes, which the diocesan archivist was initially unwilling to let me see because the events were still too close. Organizations specializing in collecting data from the Occupation

  period, such as the Comité d’Histoire de la Deuxième Guerre Mondiale, have also amassed an archive of recollections collected in the years after the war,18 but these are relatively patchy and may not answer the questions in which the modern historian is interested. For these reasons about fifty interviews were undertaken in the

  period 1996–9 with survivors of the period and in a few cases their close relations.




  There is a school of thought that dismisses oral history as unreliable evidence, as the ranting of old men and women.19 My own experience, however,

  shows that with the passage of time those who witnessed the Occupation are willing to talk about it candidly as never before. In order to find interviewees I had myself interviewed by a local paper

  under the heading, ‘Angevins, tell me about your life under the Occupation’.20 The day the article appeared, having fun with my ‘tweed

  jacket, understatements and deceitfully candid look behind the glasses’, the phone never stopped ringing. Contacts established in this way quickly led to others and lines were traced to

  neighbouring departments. Only one individual I approached flatly refused to speak to me. Initially, I went to interviews equipped with a list of questions, but I soon discovered that it was

  pointless to try to corroborate the details of events external to people’s lives and which occurred over fifty years ago. It became clear that the best approach was to allow the interviewee

  freedom to ‘tell the story’ of his or her experience and then to probe more at specific points. There is no doubt that many who experienced the Occupation are still marked by events

  that transformed their lives: the death of a friend in an aerial attack, the arrest and subsequent execution of a loved one, or even a bungled operation for appendicitis and what seemed like an

  eternal diet of beans.21 These events are etched in the memory and often provide the subjects around which interviewees will construct a narrative.




  Naturally, an individual’s story of his or her experiences under the Occupation is not wholly personal but is shaped by the collective memories and accounts that have

  dominated discussion of the Occupation over the intervening years. Interviewees often adopt a particular discourse, seeking to align their own lives with the model of the Resistance, like the

  official who sent the tricolour dog into the Occupied Zone or the former printer who told me that when the Germans arrived in his town in 1940 and threw cigarettes to the crowd he solemnly crushed

  with his foot the one that fell close to him and then spat on it.22 Others, by contrast, expound a ‘Pétainist’ version of events which

  is effectively taboo in public discourse but often voiced very forcefully in private by individuals who clearly believe that their view has not been given credence. They will argue for example that

  most French people supported Marshal Pétain as the only alternative to the direct rule of a Gauleiter, that the Resistance was composed of ‘bandits’, ‘terrorists’ or

  communist subversives whose folly provoked German reprisals against innocent civilians, and that the Resistance had no significant role in the liberation of France, which was achieved by Allied

  armies.




  There are occasionally moments in an interview, however, when an account that has been carefully constructed hits an obstacle and something that has been hidden then breaks the surface. If the

  dominant line is that the Vichy regime collaborated with the Germans but ordinary French people bore no responsibility for this, an individual such as our printer might construct a story to show

  that he never had any dealings with Germans, until he lets slip that Germans did talk to him in his office and that sometimes he drank with them. Sometimes interviewees rehearse a familiar script

  while the taperecorder is playing and say what they really mean after it has stopped. Thus the mayor of a village which had narrowly escaped German reprisals in 1944 as a result of Resistance

  activity in the area confided as I was about to leave, ‘In any case, I am against the Resistance.’ This moment has been called a ‘rupture in the narrative’ or

  ‘boundary crossing’, when the ‘hidden transcript’ beneath the rehearsed narrative suddenly begins to play.23 This allows the

  interviewer to glimpse the possibility of an alternative reading of events, such as the more or less amicable ‘cohabitation’ of French and Germans periodically, and sharply contrasting

  attitudes to the Resistance.




  The interviewer has to listen sympathetically and build a bond of trust with the interviewee in order that the latter can feel safe delivering an account that may well be

  sensitive or difficult to relate. It may be that the British historian, who is not readily identified with a particular camp, is able to elicit more confidences. The danger arises, however, that

  the interviewer may become persuaded, even seduced, by a point of view that is deeply felt but by its nature one-sided.24 Survivors of a massacre in

  Touraine at the hands of the Germans in 1944, provoked by a Resistance attack on a German convoy, were reluctant to criticize the Resistance when I met them in 1997, but demonstrated by their tears

  in the graveyard what they really felt. Returning home, I too burst into tears. I had clearly been won over to a viewpoint that was critical of the recklessness of much Resistance activity, but

  also needed to distance myself and recover objectivity. The next issue was how to write about the experience. Could the account of the survivors be integrated into the overall story as anything

  other than ‘opinion’, ‘voice’ or ‘memory’? Should it be weighed differently from the official documentation, which was just as likely to have been produced from

  a particular angle and in order to persuade superiors?




  With few exceptions, the interviews undertaken were with ordinary French people who could offer an account of what the German Occupation was like for those who experienced it in the small towns

  and villages of France. Enough has been written about the major politicians and statesmen, the leading resisters and collaborators.25 My own work

  concentrates on workers and peasants, manufacturers and landowners, women and children, Catholics and Jews, notables and officials up to the rank of prefect, closely integrated into the fabric of

  provincial life. The fine work of Philippe Burrin has explored how French and Germans found ways of ‘accommodating’ each other in Occupied France, but moves in the exalted sphere of

  high politics, big business and leading intellectuals rather than in that of ordinary people.26 Pierre Laborie has investigated the attitudes of ordinary

  people as ‘public opinion’, using the data thrown up by Vichy’s secret mail-opening service. It takes the pulse of changing popular opinion to Vichy, but treats the French people

  as a bloc and opinion as something that can be traced on a graph.27 My own approach is to locate ordinary people in the communities to which they belonged.

  This might be a neighbourhood, village, town or pays, an area with a distinct geographical or historical identity, usually a small town and its hinterland.28 What matters about the community is less the given area than the unwritten rules that govern its members and do not apply to outsiders.29 The perspective of the local community makes it possible to reassess the complex relations between French and Germans, between Vichy and the French and among the French

  themselves, not according to some higher code of ‘good’ and ‘bad’ actions that was handed down at the Liberation but according to what the community thought was good or bad

  for it under the Occupation.




  This study therefore begins by taking the lid off one small town in la France profonde, with fewer than 6,000 souls: the picturesque and historic Chinon. Behind the beautiful

  façade a world of faction and intrigue, rivalry and treachery, highlighted by the unusual circumstances of the Occupation, is explored. The lens then widens to take in the Loire valley as a

  whole as a typical region of Occupied France, in so far as any region may be deemed typical in the rapidly changing French landscape. Although the Loire and its tributaries provide a unity, what

  emerges is that even in this limited area the Occupation was experienced very differently: from large seaports with a substantial German presence to isolated hamlets where Germans were rarely seen;

  from cathedral towns which endorsed the reactionary philosophy of the Vichy regime to villages where stones were thrown at religious processions; and from communist strongholds in railway suburbs

  to the fiefs of nobles still perfumed by the ancien régime. What it offers is a cross-section of communities in which the challenges of the Occupation can be explored: displacement

  and absence, work and play, physical and spiritual needs, and concentric circles of conflicting loyalties.




  The lightning German offensive of May–June 1940 defeated the French armies, toppled the government and cut the country in two. The northern two-thirds of the country was placed under

  German military rule, and the so-called Free Zone in the south was governed by a new regime based in the Massif Central spa town of Vichy.30 Under the

  armistice concluded between the French and German governments, the occupation of northern France was provisional until the end of the war and Vichy remained formally sovereign in the Occupied Zone

  as well as in the south. In practice, however, the French administration in the Occupied Zone continued to administer, but virtually out of contact with Vichy. The French civil administration

  was therefore obliged to do business daily with the German military administration, and soon each mirrored the other at the local, departmental and regional levels. The Germans

  were happy to let the French administration continue to administer under a system of indirect rule, so long as it delivered public order and a flow of resources for the needs of the Wehrmacht. They

  drew a distinction between the western provinces of German-occupied Europe, where effective local government ensured the delivery of order and resources, and the eastern provinces, such as Poland

  and the Balkans, where the indigenous government commanded less loyalty, and the German military found itself from the start fighting a guerrilla war with local populations. For its part the French

  administration, isolated from Vichy, found that the confidence of the Germans could even increase its authority over its charges. Moreover, the brutal relationship of occupier and occupied was

  tempered by the sharing of a common set of military, cultural and even religious values which made it easier to reach agreement. The German Occupation was in many ways less dictatorship and more

  negotiation between two (admittedly unequal) bureaucracies to contain discontent and defuse crises before they erupted into open violence.




  The presence of the Germans affected ordinary people and communities as well as the military. Their arrival in 1940 was preceded by rumours of atrocities they had committed en route, which might

  entail rape, violence or robbery. Many of these, however, were recycled from the Great War and this time the Germans were keen to make a good impression in order to facilitate Franco-German

  cooperation.31 Units marched through French towns and villages, occupied public buildings and hotels, and were sometimes billeted on private family homes

  for weeks or months. French people were taken on by the Germans as cleaners, cooks and laundrywomen, relationships of service that frequently led to sex. Vehicles, horses and foodstuffs were

  requisitioned, but many businesses were offered contracts to supply the German military, and informal opportunities to trade with Germans on the black market multiplied. The influential image of

  the French as passive victims of the Occupation has to be set against ample opportunities for profit and pleasure that many were only too ready to take. Some of course simply pursued self-interest;

  but just as administrations tried to define what was legal in terms of private relations between French and Germans, so French communities fixed the bounds of what was morally

  acceptable and what was not. How morality was defined collectively by the French under the Occupation, as opposed to how it was defined after the Liberation, is an important theme that will be

  explored in this book.




  Relations between the French in the Occupied Zone and the Vichy government are also explored from the viewpoint of the community. Having dissolved parliament and the conseils

  généraux – the French equivalent of county councils – Vichy was in theory more authoritarian than any regime since the First Empire of Napoleon I. It was also seen to

  be reactionary, taking revenge on the politicians of the Third Republic who were held responsible for France’s decline and the defeat of 1940, and abolishing the Republic. Marianne, symbol of

  the Republic, was henceforth in chains. And yet, isolated in the Free Zone, Vichy was unable to provide much support for the French administration in the Occupied Zone, which therefore became very

  dependent for the cultivation of consent on local notables. These were the most prominent figures in the towns and villages because of their wealth, profession or family connections, and served as

  mayors and local councillors – the lowest layer of local administration that could not be dissolved.32 Some mayors and councillors were purged, on

  the grounds that they were not reliable rather than for the ideological reason that they belonged to the dominant parties of the Third Republic, the radicals and the socialists. What mattered for

  Vichy was ‘rallying’ to the new regime, and plenty of radicals and socialists had voted full powers to Marshal Pétain on 10 July 1940 when parliament convened for the last time

  in the casino of Vichy. Pierre Laval, who intensified the collaboration between Vichy and the Third Reich when he became head of government in 1942, realized that the politicians of the Third

  Republic were also local notables with great influence in their constituencies and acknowledged the need to embed the administration more firmly in the locality. He thus restored the conseils

  généraux in all but name. Local notables essentially mediated between Vichy, the Germans and the local community, delivering order and resources for the first two, but protecting

  the autonomy and interests of the latter. They had performed such a function since 1940, when many mayors opened the doors of their towns and cities to the advancing Germans for fear that

  resistance would provoke bombardment and massacre. Such feats of local if not national patriotism wonderfully increased their authority for the course of the Occupation.

  Whether, as the pressure grew, they were successful in defending the interests of all members of the city equally, is open to question. In the long run, arguably, peasants and workers obtained a

  better service than Jews.




  Another buffer between the French population and the German authorities was the Catholic Church. The Catholic hierarchy was undeniably loyal to Marshal Pétain, and was doubtless more

  assiduous in its concern for absent prisoners of war and conscripted workers than persecuted Jews. As an institution, however, it limited the influence of Nazism, and it also played a key role

  providing hope for those struck by pain and grief. In the chaotic world of Occupied France it interceded with saints and the Virgin Mary for the protection and salvation of believers, perceived for

  many a year as a more hopeful source of deliverance than the Allied invasion that never seemed to come.




  French people did of course suffer terrible hardships under the Occupation, but they were more than traumatized souls queuing for the next loaf of bread or dodging the bombs. As a result of

  defeat and Occupation French society was in a state of shock: normal patterns of life were disrupted, moral certitudes were undermined, raw nerves were exposed. And yet, far from being atomized and

  cowed, the French formed new relationships, built new networks and discovered new forms of solidarity in order to deal with the challenges and crises inflicted by the Occupation. What is most

  striking about the French under the Occupation is not how heroic or villainous they were but how imaginative, creative and resourceful they were in pursuit of a better life.




  Solidarity did not, in the course of things, mean solidarity with anybody. One of the most marked consequences of the Occupation was the narrowing of horizons. Frightened by the unfamiliarity

  and unpredictability of the new order, people fell back on their families, their churches, their trades, their villages, towns and pays. Communities also divided against themselves. Old

  tensions erupted under stress, and some individuals whose loyalties to Vichy or the Germans were suspect risked becoming the object of denunciation and persecution. The witch-hunt was a corollary

  of communities falling back upon themselves. The denunciation of suspects, which was deemed highly unpatriotic after the Liberation, was welcomed under the Occupation as a patriotic

  gesture.33




  The moral universe of Occupied France was notoriously murky. What was right and what was wrong, what patriotic and what unpatriotic, may have been crystal clear in 1944, but

  not before. Much of the confusion may be explained by conflicts of loyalty within a succession of concentric circles. Just as individuals were retreating to the village, town or pays, so,

  ironically, the Vichy regime demanded greater sacrifices for the benefit of a France that had almost ceased to exist. Should a farmer, for instance, hand over his harvest to the Vichy agency to

  supply urban markets at fixed prices, or should he keep some back to feed his family, his regular clients whom he would supply at a fair price, or Parisians or Germans from whom he could make a

  killing? Was hoarding unpatriotic or was it patriotic to refuse to supply the Vichy agency on the grounds that it might pass on the stocks to the Germans?




  Matters were complicated by the fact that there was not one patrie: there were two or three. The French might be loyal to Vichy as the established or legitimate government. They might

  however feel loyal to de Gaulle and the Free French in London, later to become the provisional government of the Republic in Algiers, on the grounds that they considered Pétain to be a

  usurper and a traitor. They might even have a first loyalty to Moscow, on the grounds that after 1941 the Soviet Union was alone in resisting Hitler militarily and alone preserved the hope of the

  delivery of Europe. If the object of patriotism was contested, so was the manner in which it might be expressed. It could be done by ‘moral force’, peacefully, by laying a wreath at a

  statue of Joan of Arc or coming out on to the streets at a time appointed by the BBC. Rebuilding a patriotic community symbolically was enough for many, but for others it did nothing to loosen the

  grip of the occupier or stir up insurrection. This minority believed in ‘physical force’ patriotism, including the assassination of members of the Army of Occupation. Such actions might

  be considered the height of patriotism by the Communist Party, but were decried by the local community in which the assassination took place, some of whose members were executed as a collective

  punishment because the culprit himself could not be found. Here loyalty and even sacrifice to the ideal of a fighting France was diametrically opposed to loyalty to the interests of a town or city

  which simply wanted to see out the Occupation with as little grief as possible.




  The outbreak of war between Germany and the Soviet Union in June 1941 fundamentally changed the balance of forces and the tempo of the Occupation in France. Not only did it

  cause communists in France to open a ‘home front’ against the Germans in the hope of provoking a domestic uprising; it also caused the Germans to step up the war against the enemy

  within – notably communists and Jews – and massively to increase their resources and labour for what was now a total war. From this moment the negotiated period of the Occupation may be

  said to have ended. As armed resistance increased, the Germans no longer trusted the French authorities to deliver the public order and resources they required. Collaboration as a system of

  indirect rule, involving cooperation between French and German authorities, gave way to collaboration as the imposition of terms on the French administration and police, and a shift of influence

  from the German military to the German secret police. Hostage-taking ended, but was replaced by a systematic terror against communists, the deportation of foreign and many French Jews, and the

  conscription of French labour for the armaments factories of the Reich.




  German repression and the labour draft provoked more resistance, but each new Resistance organization was liable to be denounced, discovered, and its members executed or deported. Just as

  significant was the alienation of local communities whose reserves and manpower were now under attack. French officials and local authorities were squeezed between the increasingly greedy and

  brutal German authorities and the increasingly angry and frightened local populations. They were placed in an impossible predicament: forced to affect loyalty to Vichy and the Germans if they were

  to keep their jobs, but risking rejection by local populations if they failed in their duty of protection. Increasingly they resorted to dissembling and the double game, a less and less reliable

  link in the chain of command.




  At the same time incessant Allied bombing raids on German installations in France paralysed the German war economy. Even before the Allied landings of June 1944 the German military machine had

  virtually ground to a halt. The fear of a Resistance dominated by the communists was a powerful incentive to prevent revolution as the Germans left, secure the continuity of the French state and

  ensure that the Liberation was less a power struggle between Gaullists and Vichy than an orderly transfer of power between Vichy officials and the officials-in-waiting of the new Republic. The

  doctrine of republican legitimacy required that all those who had voted full powers to Marshal Pétain or been appointed by him should be removed. Loyalty to one’s

  town or pays was no longer sufficient in 1944, and some indication had to be given of sincere commitment to the Resistance and the General over the water. Against this, however, the need for

  efficacy and continuity in government meant that, especially at local level, notables were carried over and wielded their influence much as before. In this area as in others the Liberation was a

  moment of dashed hopes and unfulfilled dreams.




  At this point we return from our search for the Occupation in the archives to memories of Occupation that were being constructed even as the Liberation took place. As soon as he returned to

  Paris, General de Gaulle brought down the tablets of the Resistance for the admiration of the crowd. Over the next few decades, locally as well as nationally, the story of the heroic Resistance of

  the French people was rehearsed and commemorated. The ‘bad French’ were marginalized and ‘poor French’ were recast as extras supporting the ‘good French’.

  Discordant voices wishing to tell other stories were drowned out. And yet those other voices continued to make themselves heard, in their own small theatres rather than on the national stage, in

  public with their own shrines and monuments, or else in private among like-minded disciples and anyone who might care to listen. The final part of this book attempts to give space to this

  multiplicity of accounts, not only out of a sense of historical fairness, but because these stories, as much as the records of the archives, offer new clues and new insights to the historian in

  search of Occupied France.




  
 





  
1. CHINON




  ‘Chinon is so full of quaintness’, wrote an English lady sketching in Touraine in the 1920s, ‘that the trouble is to find the bits which most repay

  one’s time.’ Examining the medieval houses as potential subjects for her pen, Margaret Aulton observed that ‘queer turrets hang from odd corners, jutting gables shade tiny

  windows; cornices and brackets, weather-worn and scarred, carved weirdly in ancient oak into figures, animals and grotesque heads, stretch above the windows of little shops’.1 At about the same time a local writer, René Boylesve, taking Chinon as the setting for a story of provincial bourgeois life, La Jeune Fille bien

  élevée, noted that ‘its most recent buildings date from the time of Louis XIV; most are from the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries. Some are half-timbered, ornamented with

  naive sculptures, others are built from the soft stone of the region, with turrets capped by knobbly cones, pierced by smiling mullioned windows. . . . If you look up to examine the detail of a

  skylight or gable,’ he continued, ‘you will be surprised and delighted to see steep rocks way above the object attracting your gaze, sprouting clumps of elm or young oaks here and

  there, on the summit of which lie the magnificent ruins of the three châteaux where Joan of Arc once passed.’2




  Squeezed between the tranquil Vienne, a tributary of the Loire, and a sharply rising cliff, the town was indeed dominated by the ruins of the three keeps which had been the Plantagenet Henry

  II’s favourite residence in France and where he had died in 1189. Ten years later his son, Richard the Lionheart, died in Chinon having been wounded while laying siege to a nearby castle.

  Their tombs, along with that of Eleanor of Aquitaine, Henry’s wife and Richard’s mother, lie a dozen miles away in the abbey of Fontevrault. Subsequently the château of Chinon was

  the stage for an even more significant event, recalled by George Bernard Shaw in scene ii of his 1924 play Saint Joan. There, in the throne room, in 1429, Joan of Arc

  met the indecisive French king, Charles VII, and declared that she would raise the siege of Orléans and have him crowned at Reims. The people of Chinon themselves never forgot this moment of

  destiny, and erected a dramatic equestrian statue in Joan’s memory when her cult enjoyed a revival at the end of the nineteenth century. In 1929, when the 500th anniversary of her epic

  journey was commemorated, a crowd of 50,000 turned out to attend the celebrations at Chinon presided over by the highest dignitaries of army and Church.3




  There was more to Chinon, however, than medieval quaintness and overgrown grandeur. The celebrations in honour of Joan of Arc had been organized by the town’s Commercial and Industrial

  Union rather than by the republican authorities, who looked askance at the junketings of their right-wing rivals. After they took control of the constituency and town in 1877–8, in the wave

  of elections which saw the back of the royalist and Catholic notables who had controlled French politics for so long, the republicans launched a national subscription to commission a statue of the

  Renaissance humanist writer, François Rabelais. Dressed in his doctor’s gown for which he had discarded his monk’s habit, open book in one hand, pen in the other, he gazed

  towards the town hall as if to endorse its new occupants, an ironic smile playing on his lips. In the eyes of the republicans he was a precursor of Voltaire, who had directed his barbs against the

  intolerance and superstition of the feudal regime and the Catholic Church and pointed the way to the democratic and secular order that they were about to inaugurate. Unveiling the statue in 1882,

  the local republican deputy who had headed the subscription campaign addressed the bronze man in an anticlerical rhetoric worthy of his subject. ‘How you whipped the hypocritical, clawing,

  sanctimonious, vestimented enemies of the people,’ he declared, ‘all those hideous, snotty-nosed, catarrhal and worm-eaten clerics.’4




  The Rabelais of the republicans, for all their spite, was a high-minded patron of the desperately serious political battle they were waging. Another side of Rabelais was lost on their Victorian

  minds but appealed to nineteenth-century Romantics and twentieth-century modernists.5 This was the Rabelais of Gargantua and Pantagruel,

  ordained the ‘priest of laughter’ by Victor Hugo, who drew on the exuberance of popular culture and seemed to write from the belly. The world of this Rabelais is

  neither witty nor refined; it is a topsy-turvy one of satire and subversion, oaths and obscenities, eating and drinking on a vast scale, urinating and defecating. At one point the young Gargantua

  regales his father Grandgousier with his experiments designed to find the perfect bum-wipe. He has tried a lady’s veil, a hood, a neckerchief, some silk ear-pieces, a page’s bonnet and

  a cat which unfortunately scratched his perineum. He tries herbs and vegetables, sheets and curtains, hay and straw, wool and paper, a hen and a pigeon, but finally concludes, citing the Oxford

  theologian Duns Scotus as an authority, that the perfect article for the task is a plump and downy goose, its head held between the legs.6 This is not to

  argue that Chinonais were obscene Rabelaisians but that Rabelais was a familiar point of reference for many of them, and this reading resonated on more than one occasion under the Occupation.




  The contradictions of the town – its beauty, quaintness and traditions, its intense civic pride, and the risk of subversion and obscenity – were laid bare by the German Occupation.

  Until then tensions and animosities within the population of under 6,000 were effectively controlled by the social and political hegemony of the provincial bourgeoisie, which had kept at bay

  challenges from nobles, clergy and the working classes. The Occupation, however, undermined the conventions on which provincial society was built, throwing up new antagonisms and dangerously

  raising the stakes for the conflicts that were played out.




  On Wednesday, 19 June 1940, as German forces approached Chinon, frantic negotiations took place between the mayor and the French military commander in the vicinity. The military commander was

  under instructions to defend the bridges over the Loire and the Vienne to ensure an orderly retreat for the French army, but the mayor was fearful that any defence of the town would provoke

  artillery bombardment and Stuka attacks. Thirty miles away the city of Tours was bombed for three days and engulfed in flames. Eventually the French commander saw reason and as the population hid

  in their cellars in the early hours of 21 June Mayor Henri Mattraits stood alone on the quai as the German troops entered the town without incident. He later explained to the municipal

  council that Chinon – ‘open to everyone . . . proud to be able to show its natural beauty and artistic riches to tourists the world over’ – had been fortunate not to suffer the same fate as Tours. One of the assistant mayors then thanked the mayor ‘on behalf of the decent and hardworking population of Chinon’ for

  remaining at his post, day and night, inspiring confidence in the citizens by his sangfroid, and duly announced that he had ‘deserved well of the town’.7




  The German military and Feldgendarmerie requisitioned hotels to serve as their headquarters and the local population settled down to life under the Occupation. No sign of any discontent was

  manifested until the autumn, and then French and German authorities collaborated to defuse it. On 11 November 1940, anniversary of the victory over Germany in 1918, students parading on the

  Champs-Élysées in Paris in defiance of a German ban were arrested by German police and the Paris universities were closed until further notice. The main effect was that Paris students

  returned to their home towns and continued to demonstrate there. In Chinon, fly-posters appeared on the walls announcing ironically, ‘French people! Listen to this appeal to the population:

  male and female workers are required to narrow the English Channel.’ The local military commander at Chinon, the Kreiskommandant, summoned his French opposite number, the young subprefect

  Paul Cay, and warned that if such posters or graffiti appeared again, severe punishment would be meted out to the townsfolk. Far from clamping down without reflection, the German authorities were

  prepared to talk to French officials and – in 1940 at least – to give the French a chance to mend their ways. The subprefect in turn summoned the mayor of Chinon, Dr Henri Mattraits,

  and the principal of the college, Auguste Correch. These two had been educated together and served together in the trenches of Flanders. They were patriots but they could see no sense in gratuitous

  provocation, particularly as they were held personally responsible by the German authorities for keeping order in the town. The principal agreed to lecture his pupils and the mayor to have words

  with the families of students to ensure that youthful high spirits did not run out of control again.8




  There were some ways of expressing patriotic feeling that were not regarded as undue provocation by the Germans. The most obvious was the annual celebration of Joan of Arc Day in Chinon. To be

  sure, they banned the traditional procession through the streets to the château, for marches were regarded as militaristic and unacceptable. Every May, however, there were three days of

  prayer followed by a Sunday Mass at which a leading churchman from Tours or Angers gave a panegyric on the saint. The usual message was that Joan had been sent from God to save

  the Church and had been burned alive by the English. In Chinon the sermon of 1941 was devoted to the piety, faith and sacrifice of Joan, while in 1943 Canon Panaget from Angers, a hero of two wars,

  spoke of Joan’s journey from serving the family home to serving the fatherland. The Church’s control of the cult kept radical–socialist Mayor Mattraits away in 1941 but he duly

  attended in 1943, along with Subprefect Cay, Principal Correch, the captain of the gendarmerie and leading magistrates. The commemoration of Joan of Arc in fact brought civic and ecclesiastic

  authorities together in a town usually split between clericals and anticlericals, and though the references to Joan’s patriotism always cited her struggle against the English, she served in

  an unspoken way as a symbol of national independence and invincibility that was as much anti-German as anti-English.9




  Even closer to the town’s sense of pride and identity was the statue of Rabelais. This came under threat during the Occupation because, being cast in bronze, it attracted the attention of

  the government agency responsible for recycling metals in short supply. Statues of Joan of Arc were protected as too important to be melted down, but the statue of Rabelais, whose message did not

  sit well with the conservative, moralistic tones of Vichy’s National Revolution, was at risk. The statue was duly earmarked for removal early in 1942 and Chinon was forced to present Rabelais

  in a new light in order to hold on to him. The municipal council petitioned Marshal Pétain on behalf of ‘the father of the French language . . . born in this region that he loved so

  much and which inspired most of his works’. The local antiquarian society, the Amis du Vieux Chinon, also published a protest, asserting that ‘for the Chinonais, Rabelais is not just a

  famous writer but a legendary figure, the genius of the region, the very incarnation of their little fatherland’. The blatant appeal to Vichy’s desire to root populations in their

  localities, so that they could imbibe the lessons of their ancestors and the earth which gave birth to them and to which they returned, paid off: the Minister for Industrial Production decided that

  Rabelais could stay on his pedestal.10




  Such a victory was a tribute to the influence of the local press, run by local politicians who in Touraine belonged to the Radical–Socialist Party, the ruling party of

  the Third Republic. Chinon under the Occupation in fact had two weekly newspapers, Le Républicain de Chinon, owned by the former radical–socialist deputy and pig-farmer

  Léon Courson, and Le Chinonais, managed by Albert Guenon, each with a circulation of 2,500. When the German authorities ordered the closure of Le Républicain de Chinon

  in 1942, the Vichy prefect suggested that they might like to close Le Chinonais too, as both kept republican sentiment alive and periodically criticized the Vichy regime.11 In fact both newspapers survived until the Liberation, when paradoxically they were closed down to give a free run to La Nouvelle République, the new

  regional paper based at Tours that underpinned the Liberation authorities. Local identity and a local voice were thus paradoxically better expressed under the Occupation and Vichy than

  afterwards.




  Similarly, it would be wrong to imagine that under the Occupation French society was atomized and crushed and that people did little but cower in their homes. Associative life was sometimes

  diverted into new channels, but it went on with much the same energy as before. In the autumn of 1940 Chinon was honeycombed by clubs and societies which testify to the sociability of the

  inhabitants. The total membership of the various societies was 3,000 men, 300 women and 170 children. There were the old boys’ associations of the college, the lay municipal school and the

  private Christian Brothers’ School, the lay and Catholic youth clubs, the scouts, a workers’ education association, the Saint-Jean Choir and a Concert Society, two hunting clubs called

  ‘La Chasse’ and ‘La Protection Chinonaise’, two general sporting clubs called ‘L’Avant-garde chinonaise’ and ‘La Rabelaisienne’, two

  boules societies, a horse-racing association, a tennis club, a cycling club, a fishing club, the Friends of the Central Plateau which indulged in ‘healthy pursuits’ for men, the

  Amis du Vieux Chinon specializing in local history, the municipal colony holidays organization, self-help groups for the victims of industrial accidents, the Firemen’s Friendly Society, the

  Friends of the Hospital, a landlords’ association and a consumer cooperative for buying shoes.12




  Not all these societies continued uninterrupted through the Occupation: some changed their spots while others responded to new challenges such as the needs of the 1.5 million French prisoners of

  war in German camps. Hunting was dealt a blow when, for security reasons, the German authorities ordered all guns to be handed in at town halls and threatened severe penalties

  if any weapons were discovered. Only German officers and their French cronies hunted with firearms, while the ordinary peasant, who had secured the right to hunt in the French Revolution, had to

  fall back on clandestine hunting at night or catching rabbits with ferrets and nets, as during the ancien régime. Organizations in uniform, such as the scouts, were regarded by the

  German authorities as a paramilitary threat to the Army of Occupation and closed down. But the Chinon scouts deftly renamed themselves the Open-air Chinon Youth and were duly authorized by the

  Feldkommandantur at Tours. The Vichy regime was keen on sport as a way to train a youth heathy in body and mind, and Chinon took advantage of subsidies made available to build a municipal sports

  ground and swimming pool.13 New kinds of transport called for new kinds of races, such as the bicycle-and-25-kilo-trailer race held in May 1941 to make a

  competitive sport of monotonous trips with trailers into the country in search of food. The race finished at the municipal stadium, where Dr Mattraits blew the whistle to start the final of the

  departmental football knock-out sponsored by the Angers-based Petit Courrier, which the Chinon team won 4–0.14 The Touraine Boat Club held

  rowing regattas on a local lake, while horse racing became a special attraction, one spectacular high point being a meeting organized in July 1943 to raise funds for the POWs. Prizes were offered

  by the local demobilized soldiers, veterans, repatriated prisoners, the prisoner support committee, the municipality, the Commercial and Industrial Union and the Peasant Corporation. The

  seriousness of the fund-raising did not detract from the splendour of the occasion, with press reporting that ‘the race-goers milled about in their thousands at the weigh-in and in the

  paddock. Elegant outfits brightened up the stands, giving the appearance of a multi-coloured garden.’15




  All of this does not disguise the fact that there was much hardship under the Occupation, and a widening gulf between those who were making large profits and those who were struggling. Despite

  government attempts to fix prices and ration goods, the competition for supplies from urban consumers and the Germans created a black market in which prices were driven relentlessly upward. In the

  summer of 1942 holiday-makers descended on the region from Paris, buying up stocks of potatoes and beans at inflated prices from a delighted peasantry, with the result that

  those living on fixed incomes like pensioners, small rentiers, workers and white-collar employees had little left.16 By the following summer the gap

  between those having difficulty feeding and clothing their families and those making ‘scandalous fortunes’ in a manner ‘dangerous for social order’ had become a matter of

  concern to the authorities.17 Chinon was rocked by a scandal involving the trafficking of local wines by a dentist from Lille, Charles Graeve, who had set

  up in Chinon after the outbreak of war. After a bad year in 1939 the Chinon wines of 1941 and 1942 were excellent, commanding a ready market. Buying wine for 60–80 francs a litre, Graeve was

  selling it in the Paris region for 450–500 francs. Involved with him were his twenty-three-year-old son, Étienne, who was about to be appointed an official of the Peasant Corporation

  set up by Vichy to run agriculture, and his thirty-year-old daughter, Élisabeth, who was employed by the Vichy Youth Administration. The subprefect tried to warn the local press off

  publishing the story, because the Graeve family were well connected within the Vichy administration, but investigations revealed ‘a vast black market organization with ramifications

  throughout France’. It did not do for those with responsible posts in the Vichy régime to preach the rhetoric of ‘Travail, Famille et Patrie’ (Work, Family and Fatherland),

  to the extent of appearing in their official functions at Mothers’ Day celebrations, while publicly flaunting the millions of francs they had made on the black market. Eventually

  Étienne was interned administratively by the prefect and Élisabeth forced to resign, but the affair demonstrated extraordinary depths of corruption and hypocrisy at the heart of the

  Vichy system.18




  Black marketeers sprang up in Occupied France like mushrooms after rain. So also did denouncers, who took the opportunity to appeal to the German military administration when they felt

  persecuted by the French authorities. Denunciation, from one perspective, was a patriotic act, bringing to the attention of the authorities illegalities, disloyalties and threats to the state which

  might otherwise remain hidden. But it also represented a betrayal of the secrets of the community which were perhaps best kept from the prying of the French state, let alone of the German

  authorities. Its magic was that it gave extraordinary powers to the weaker members of the community, in particular women, but its poison divided communities against themselves in the most bitter

  way. Chinon itself was almost torn apart by a series of denunciations at the centre of which was a personage who could not have been more different from the Jeune Fille bien

  élevée of Boylesve’s novel. That young woman, who is never even given a name, is a model of perfect self-sacrifice, educated to be the perfect wife. She marries the man

  chosen for her by her convention-bound family, rather than the man she loves, denying herself the last chance of an exit by fainting during the marriage ceremony for fear of spoiling her veil. By

  contrast, Madeleine Longuépée, the scourge of Chinon during the Occupation, was the antithesis of the provincial lady: a former dressmaker from a less fashionable provincial town,

  middle-aged, childless and divorced, she was kept by Adalbert Chevalier, the owner of the Café des Terrasses, and was passionately jealous of the husband of Chevalier’s daughter by a

  previous marriage, a successful doctor of North African Jewish origin. A woman so ill at ease in Chinon discovered, however, that the German Occupation provided her with ample opportunity for

  revenge against society and she did not hesitate to exploit this possibility.




  Madame Longuépée inaugurated her role as wicked stepmother in the late summer of 1940 by denouncing the Jewish doctor, Mehmed Kapandji. Kapandji was working as a surgeon for the

  Red Cross in Châtellerault hospital when he was summoned by two German officers. They said that he had been denounced both as a Jew and for practising medicine illegally by the woman living

  with his father-in-law. These were the early days of the Occupation, however, before anti-Semitic policies began to bite. Instead of arresting him, the Germans warned Kapandji, ‘Don’t

  trust that woman, she could bring you all sorts of misfortune.’ Frustrated at first, Mme Longueépée became only more determined to impress the Germans and spread terror around

  her.




  The Germans, as conquerors, took the view that defeated Frenchmen had forfeited the right to Frenchwomen, who now belonged to them. After a hard day giving orders, the Kreiskommandant of Chinon

  and his men repaired to the Café des Terrasses, where Chevalier had put up a photograph of Hitler and a notice welcoming ‘our German friends’. For their delight Chevalier was

  happy to lay on young girls such as Simone Peltier, who was just fifteen when the Germans invaded, had failed to find a job after leaving school, and was still living with her parents when she fell

  under the spell of Mme Longuépée. Simone had sex with Germans both in the bar and on a sofa in a cellar opposite. After a row with Chevalier, she went to the

  French gendarmerie to complain, and the French authorities launched an inquiry into ‘the incitation of minors to debauchery’. By the time the French police arrived, however, Chevalier

  had placed hen cages in the cellar and claimed to be raising chickens. Simone retracted her story, no doubt under pressure from Chevalier and Longuépée, but the French pursued their

  inquiry through the examining magistrate, Leopold Florens, and the Procureur de la République (leading magistrate) at Chinon, M. Ponset.




  The French inquiry did not get far down the road. Ponset and Florens were summoned to the Feldkommandantur at Tours in November 1940, told that they had been defeated, and ordered to hand over

  all files concerning immoral acts. Ponset affected to rule Chinon like a robed noble of the eighteenth century, declaring ‘I have the Kreiskommandant [of Chinon] entirely in my hands, I can

  do with him exactly as I want, I will continue to enforce French laws and ignore German ones and no one will notice.’ These words were relayed by Chevalier to the Germans, who promptly

  arrested Ponset. Ponset, for his part, was convinced that Chevalier was only doing as instructed by his mistress, Mme Longuépée, ‘the inspirer of his deeds’, who had gone

  to pull strings with the German authorities in Paris to ensure that Ponset was brought low.




  The Kreiskommandant of Chinon made clear that he had a quite different notion of where power lay. He told Florens, who was also questioned, that ‘We are the victors! You have been beaten!

  The women, even the children of your country, are no longer yours! Our soldiers have the right to have fun, and if you do anything to slight the honour of the German army you will be arrested, like

  M. Ponset. Chevalier and others are there to keep an eye on you.’ But Chevalier was no more than putty in the hands of Mme Longuépée. A year later he confessed to Florens that

  ‘all the evil comes from that woman Longuépée. The woman is a tyrant. She subjugates me. Listen, Monsieur le juge, it was she who had M. Ponset arrested. She went to

  Paris to fix it.’ Florens told the magistrate preparing Mme Longuépée’s trial after the Liberation that he had never interviewed the woman, ‘but she had the

  reputation of a shrew at Chinon, extremely dangerous for the Resistance because of the contacts with the German milieux. Not because of her charm but because of her diabolical

  intelligence and spirit of evil.’19




  Mme Longuépée’s malice was not exhausted by the arrest of Procureur Ponset, who was in fact released by the Germans after three weeks on condition that he move to a post in

  unoccupied France. Around the same time she was in Mme Gauthier’s grocery shop in Chinon when M. Bagarie the postman came in. When Mme Gauthier asked for news of his son, Bagarie said that

  the boy was delighted to be in the Free Zone, away from the ‘Boche’. Mme Longuépée intervened to say that the Germans were going to win the war, whereupon Bagarie replied

  that those who served them deserved to be shot one day. Bagarie was far from being a resister: he was a former gendarme who sent his children to Church school and sold large numbers of photographs

  of Marshal Pétain to raise money for the charitable Secours National. But Mme Longuépée was determined to lure him into her trap. She returned to the attack, defending Marshal

  Pétain’s policy of collaboration with Germany, upon which Bagarie was alleged to have taken a photograph of the Marshal and, making an appropriate gesture, announced that it was fit

  only for toilet paper. In another context this rerun of Gargantua’s experiment would have provoked the laughter it deserved, but it was promptly reported by Mme Longuépée and

  Gauthier to the Feldkommandantur of Tours. Bagarie was hauled before a German military court and sentenced to ten months in prison for insulting both the German army and Marshal Pétain.




  When the Post Office investigated the case they found that there was more to it than a vendetta between Mme Longuépée and Bagarie. Bagarie was a schoolfriend of Ponset, and Mme

  Longuépée, having got rid of Ponset, wanted to do the same to his friends and allies. She was able to take Mme Gauthier the grocer along with her because she was able to blackmail

  her. She knew that Mme Gauthier had had an affair with a French officer at Saumur while her husband had been away at the front in 1940 and had given birth to a stillborn child. Mme Gauthier, for

  her part, was keen to have Bagarie out of the way because her husband, who had a temporary job with the Post Office, coveted Bagarie’s permanent one. The Germans were quite happy to release

  Bagarie so long as Gauthier was given his job. But this violation of administrative proprieties was unacceptable to the French postal services. As far as they were concerned,

  Bagarie was a good employee whose southern temperament had got the better of him, while Gauthier was a bad one. More importantly, to let two women of ‘deplorable morals’ dictate who was

  to be employed in the Post Office was out of the question.20




  After a third incident in the space of five months arose, the French authorities endeavoured to recover control of the situation. Mme Josseaux, wife of the bank manager of the Chinon branch of

  the Crédit Lyonnais, went into a grocer’s shop in Chinon (we are not told if it was Mme Gauthier’s) and met the Kreiskommandantur’s cook, who was buying fruit for her

  German employers. ‘You can give them the fruit-stones,’ observed Mme Josseaux wryly, ‘that is good enough for them.’ Mme Josseaux was duly denounced and arrested, but at

  this point the subprefect, Paul Cay, had had enough. He warned his opposite number the Kreiskommandant of the ‘deplorable effect that these arrests – based for the most part on the

  accounts of people of the most dubious conduct and morality – may have on the population’. He told the prefect more explicitly that the arrests were made after denunciations by people

  accredited with the Kreiskommandantur. ‘Whether it is Mme Longuépée of Porte du Château, Mme Gauthier of rue Jean-Jacques Rousseau, Mlle Crosnier of place Jeanne

  d’Arc, Mme Pichon and her daughter of rue Marceau, Mme Albertini and her daughter of rue Voltaire, Mlle Meunier of rue Marceau, Mlle Simone Peltier of les Closeaux, Mme Mireille Beury of les

  Grésillons, both in Chinon commune, Mme Galle at Beaumont, Mme Delory of the rue du Mûrier, their bearing betrays without doubt the mission that they are

  accomplishing.’21 This litany conveys a fear that behind the public façade of male office-holding the town was effectively being run by a

  mafia of women who exercised an insidious influence at the Kreiskommandantur. The French authorities tried to persuade the Germans, in the interests of orderly and hierarchical administration, not

  to listen to women who had come into contact with them through menial employment or sex. They hoped that the Germans’ own concern with order and hierarchy would induce them to see eye to eye

  and terminate the reign of these females.




  After her break with Chevalier and Longuépée, Simone Peltier went to live with a member of the collaborationist Milice called Crosnier in a nearby hamlet, where she terrorized the

  local inhabitants by threatening to have anyone who crossed her arrested by the Germans. At the Liberation Crosnier was found in a wood with his hands tied behind his back and

  two bullets in his head, in what turned out to be a settling of scores within the Milice.22 Chevalier, Longuépée and Peltier were arrested,

  interned and sent for trial. Two peasants and a grocer testified against Simone Peltier as an immoral person addicted to the easy life and easy money, and she was sentenced to three years’

  imprisonment for denunciation. At their own trials Chevalier and Longuépée accused Peltier of lying about the scenes of debauchery with Germans alleged to have gone on at the

  café. Longuépée admitted that she had reported Bagarie for wiping his bottom with a photo of Marshal Pétain but she denied that she had denounced people to the Germans

  and argued that on the contrary she had used her contacts with the Germans to save young men from being sent on forced labour service to the Reich. Meanwhile, Chevalier claimed that he had hidden

  three Jewish doctors who had been entrusted to him by his son-in-law Kapandji in a flat that he owned in Paris. The Cour de Justice was not convinced: Longuépée was sentenced to five

  years in prison, and Chevalier to ten.23




  All sorts of arguments were found after the Liberation by those standing accused to demonstrate that far from collaborating with the Germans they had engaged in acts of resistance. To have

  sheltered Jews was a powerful defence, not least because under the Occupation Jews were at risk even before racial deportations began in the summer of 1942. On the night of 5 February 1942 a German

  sentry on duty at a German petrol station near the railway tracks in Tours was jostled and shot in the stomach by a civilian, and died a few days later. By way of reprisals the German authorities

  immediately arrested fifty hostages drawn from those sectors which were seen to be hampering the German war effort: communists and Jews. Among those arrested were two Jews who had come to Chinon

  from Metz in Lorraine at the outbreak of war in 1939: Marc Cahen, aged fifty-two, and his son, Jean, nineteen, a pharmacy student at Tours. Subprefect Cay went to the Kreiskommandantur to

  investigate, only to find that the order to arrest had come from the Feldkommandantur at Tours. At Tours Prefect Tracou, a former naval officer, managed to persuade the Feldkommandant, Colonel

  Kloss, to release those who could not possibly have committed the crime: eleven Jews, two communists who were sick, and two schoolteachers. Tracou and Kloss then acted in

  concert, trying to persuade the higher military authorities not to execute the hostages, on the grounds that the killer must have been a terrorist from outside town. The hostages remained in

  custody, however, many Jews were later deported (whether these included Marc and Jean Cahen is not known), and on 21 February the Germans executed six ‘fanatical communists’ who had

  been sentenced by Vichy’s exceptional courts, the Sections Spéciales, and were in prison at Fontevrault.24




  Acts of resistance proved extremely dangerous, as much because of denunciation or silliness as a result of the effectiveness of the French police or Gestapo. Just north of Chinon, in the broad

  valley between the Loire and the Indre, Albert Malécot, secretary of the mairie of the village of Huismes, found a meadow that looked ideal for parachute drops or for small planes to

  land, which in March 1943 was code-named the ‘Gide terrain’. He also recruited a small number of men from the surrounding villages of Huismes, Bréhémont and Rivarennes to

  service any drops or landings. Unfortunately the cover was somehow blown, and on 19 January 1944 the Gestapo raided Malécot’s home and shot him dead. On 4 March the Gestapo struck

  again, arresting five men from Huismes, two from Bréhémont and two from Rivarennes. One managed to flee, one was never discovered, but all those arrested were deported to Germany and

  only one returned.25




  Although there were patriots willing to risk their lives to help liberate France, local French officials and notables generally tried as far as possible to minimize direct confrontation by

  trying to cushion the burdens of the Occupation, negotiate their way out of local crises, and maintain a continuity of administration for as long as possible. In Chinon itself there were three key

  players. First, there was the subprefect, the prefect’s representative in the town by virtue of the fact that it was the head of an arrondissement, which generally coincided with an

  electoral constituency. Paul Cay remained subprefect for almost the entire Occupation, until April 1944 when he fell out with the new prefect. The German authorities had no reason to complain about

  him, noting that he worked well with them, although, since they were based in Tours, they in fact saw little of him.26 He served the Vichy regime

  honourably, but he was alert to the changing balance of forces and climate of opinion. After the Anglo-American landing in North Africa in November 1942 he reported to the

  prefect that the normally calm and indifferent population was beginning to express pro-Allied and Gaullist sentiments with some force. He confessed that ‘our role is very delicate’, but

  while advising his superior that ‘we must enforce a more rigid discipline than ever’, he was himself making secret contacts with the Resistance and taking silent steps towards the

  regime-in-waiting.27




  The other two main players in the town were elected notables, one the mayor, the other Chinon’s representative on the conseil général, the department’s elected

  assembly which fulfilled an advisory role alongside the prefect in Tours. Both were doctors of medicine and both were members of the Radical–Socialist Party, which subscribed to the

  principles of the French Revolution but was firmly committed to private property and social order. There, however, the resemblance ceased.




  Henri Mattraits (1882–1948) was a solid, respectable local figure, son of Benoît Mattraits, Chinon’s mayor in the Belle Époque (1898–1912). He was elected to the

  conseil général in 1929, succeeding Camille Chautemps, one of the bosses of the Radical–Socialist Party locally as well as nationally. Mattraits became mayor of Chinon in

  1934 and was confirmed in office by the Vichy regime in 1941 on the grounds that he had stood at his post when the Germans arrived in 1940 and that since then, although the radical–socialists

  were anathema to Vichy, he was considered to have ‘rallied’ to the new regime. In fact the abolition of the conseils généraux by Vichy created an opening for

  Mattraits. He became a member of the small, seven-man administrative commission which replaced the conseil général in 1941, and in 1942 became a member of the conseil

  départemental, a revived conseil général in every way except that it was appointed, not elected.




  The other doctor, Pierre Labussière (1905–44), was entirely different. Younger, and not a local but from the small town of Loches, he was unmarried and had a reputation for frank

  speaking, usually facilitated by alcohol, which he consumed in abundance. His dress was invariably unkempt, which scandalized the burghers of Chinon but endeared him to the rural populations who

  formed the backbone of his clientele and electors. Compared by his colleague Émile Aron to Grandgousier, he was a Rabelaisian figure in his closeness to folk ways, his appetite for the

  bottle, his oaths and obscenities, and general violation of the conventions of bourgeois taste.28 He stood against Mattraits in the

  election to the conseil général in 1937, plying his voters with drink and attacking Mattraits as a hypocrite, a liar and crypto-clerical, and duly defeated him, a humiliation

  for which Mattraits never forgave him. As member of the conseil général for the canton, Labussière would normally have been appointed to Vichy’s conseil

  départemental in 1942, but a confidential report warned that his loyalty to Pétain was doubtful, that he ‘passed for an Anglophile’, and that though he wielded

  influence among his rural clientele ‘his demagogy and his slovenliness gave him an unsavoury popularity’.29 Accordingly he was passed over.




  What festered as a little local rivalry in Chinon reached a critical and even fatal point as a result of the politics of the German Occupation. One of the impositions that the French government

  had to agree to in 1943 was the Service du Travail Obligatoire (STO) or forced labour service in Germany for young men of military service age. In February 1944 Pierre Labussière was

  performing a routine medical examination for sixty young men conscripted for STO in Chinon, in the presence of five medical students, a Red Cross nurse, three gendarmes, a delegate of the STO

  administration and a man from the prefecture. At one point he knocked a photograph of Marshal Pétain on to the floor. He was then alleged to have spat on it and torn it up, exclaiming

  ‘Bastard’, ‘Old fart’ and ‘Judas’. When the nurse, Mlle Rivière, voiced a protest, he riposted, going one better than postman Bagarie in Rabelaisian

  creativity, ‘And you can put it between your legs, where it belongs!’




  Most of the people present, knowing the excesses of Pierre Labussière, took the outburst in good part. Paul Cay, the subprefect, tried to smooth things over, informing the prefect that

  Labussière had not thrown the picture on to the floor but had knocked it down accidentally while reaching for a towel. He said that the doctor, whose eccentricities verged on mental

  instability, regretted his actions, and he pointed out that the issue had been blown up out of all proportion because of the political dimension, in particular the old rivalry with Mayor Mattraits.

  Others, however, were not prepared to let things go. Mlle Rivière made clear to the subprefect her sense of outrage. The new prefect at Tours, Fernand Musso, was an out-and-out

  collaborationist, keen to erase the memory that he had worked before the war with the Jewish interior minister Georges Mandel, and he was under strong pressure from collaborationist movements to

  deal firmly with the Resistance. He was extremely suspicious of Cay, who he sensed was in league with the Resistance, and indeed made a trip to Chinon in March 1944 to denounce

  the Maquis as a ‘Bolshevik danger’ and to stress that ‘order must be maintained by whatever means necessary’. He was intimidated by the Germans, in particular by the

  Gestapo, who saw Labussière as a critic of Franco-German collaboration, liable to sabotage the recruitment of STO labour to Germany, and wanted him punished.




  The Labussière affair permitted several birds to be killed with one stone. On 20 March 1944 Musso ordered the internment of Labussière and informed his superior, the regional

  prefect at Angers, that the German authorities in Tours were demanding that Labussière be handed over to them on his release. The regional prefect, Charles Donati, fixed the internment

  period at one month but told Musso that under the terms of the agreements between the French police and the SS only communists could be handed over to the German police after their sentence was

  completed. Paul Cay tried to persuade Musso to keep Labussière in French custody longer and therefore safe from the Gestapo. But Cay was summarily dismissed by Musso, whose patience was at

  an end, and ordered to a new subprefecture in the Massif Central. Instead of leaving he went underground and joined the Resistance locally. Meanwhile Labussière was released on 22 April,

  promptly arrested by the Gestapo on 25 April, and deported to Germany. He died on 6 June 1944 at Neuengamme.30




  At the Liberation the rules of the game immediately changed. Patriotism meant to have resisted the Germans or persuaded others that one had done so, and to be free of compromising relationships

  with the Vichy regime, which was now deemed null and void. Paul Cay emerged from his brief period of hiding to be appointed secretary-general of the prefecture, the right-hand man of the new

  Liberation prefect. By contrast Prefect Musso was arrested, brought to trial in Angers, where he was felt to be safer from the vengeance of the population of Tours, and duly sent to

  prison.31




  The position of Henri Mattraits was more complicated. The new republican regime decided that there was nothing wrong in holding office under Vichy, provided that it was an office to which one

  had been elected under the Republic. Mattraits had been elected mayor in 1934, which conferred legitimacy, but he had accepted office on Vichy’s conseil départemental without

  having being the elected conseiller général for the canton of Chinon. He had lost that seat to Pierre Labussière in 1937, but in 1943 Vichy passed

  over Labussière as unfit for office and gave Mattraits the chance of sweet revenge. Mattraits was disqualified from sitting on the conseil général when it was revived

  after the Liberation, and also ran the risk of being disqualified as mayor.




  From the beginning of the Liberation Mattraits campaigned to hold on to the town hall. In an eloquent defence of his conduct he told the council that he had protected Chinon during four years

  ‘under the German jackboot’. He had suffered threats from German officers demanding supplies and accommodation and had been offered the blandishments of invitations to film shows and

  banquets, which he had systematically refused. Forgetting that the campaign to save the statue of Rabelais had been waged against Vichy, he claimed that ‘one of our most glorious victories

  was to prevent our most cherished statue from being turned into German bullets’. The policy of non-cooperation he had pursued, Mattraits concluded, was ‘another form of resistance that

  lasted for four years’.32 This, however, did not prevent the new prefect from dissolving the municipal council of Chinon and appointing a

  ‘provisional municipal delegation’ of local Resistance leaders. With splendid irony its ceremonial inauguration was presided over on behalf of the prefect by Paul Cay, who announced how

  delighted he was to be back in Chinon.33 The name of Mattraits was not so much as mentioned.




  Free and fair municipal elections were scheduled for April and May 1945, and in the interim the battle-lines were drawn between the Resistance leaders and the local community. Auguste Correch,

  the college principal and assistant mayor to Mattraits in the latter part of the Occupation, declared for the former mayor, saying that Mattraits ‘had never been the servant of the Vichy

  government and, faithful to the republican tradition, he never looked for any personal profit. He did his duty entirely.’34 Mattraits took the head

  of one list under the system of proportional representation adopted, while the rival group, composed of members of the provisional delegation, headed their list with Pierre Labussière, who

  as a deportee had the crown of a resister but, unknown to the electorate, was already dead.




  In the first ballot Mattraits was elected top of the poll by a local population which honoured him as their father figure and protector during the Occupation and had no time for those who had

  leapt aboard the Resistance bandwagon at the last moment; ten were elected from Mattraits’ list, only Labussière from the other. After the second ballot the

  Mattraits list had secured seventeen of the twenty-three seats on the council and on 18 May Mattraits was duly elected mayor. The verdict of the popular vote nevertheless clashed with the rules of

  republican legitimacy and, despite an appeal from the council majority to de Gaulle, Mattraits was once again officially deposed. In the end the Resistance faction of the council did not benefit

  either. Auguste Correch was elected mayor and immediately paid homage to the devotion of Dr Mattraits, who had served Chinon ‘with courage, probity, dignity and disinterestedness during a

  difficult and dangerous period’.35 Three years later Mattraits died and was buried with great pomp after a funeral attended by representatives of the

  municipal council, the medical body, the hospitals, the court, the teachers and schoolchildren, the public employees, the gendarmerie and the population of Chinon and surrounding villages. Giving

  the oration, Correch reiterated Mattraits’ role as the saviour of his people and the plebiscite which had returned him to office in 1945. Unfortunately, he said, Mattraits had received an

  ‘odious and outrageous reward’ in the form of dismissal and, despite the lobbying of powerful friends, they had ‘come up against a Marmorean decision made by they did not know

  who, and they did not know where’. Even the local leaders of the Resistance now paid homage to Mattraits at a funeral which demonstrated eloquently that the concerns and aspirations of the

  local community and the concerns and aspirations of the Resistance were far from being the same.36




  What general questions about France under the German occupation can be teased from the experience of one small town? The first lesson is that the German occupation disrupted

  social and economic relations in a multitude of ways, driving local people either to form new networks of solidarity or to break ranks and seek private advantage. Food shortages meant that

  consumers took their bicycles and trailers out to farmers they knew in order to stock up. Christian Beugnet of Chinon recalls cycling 10 or 15 kilometres to see M. Peraud, a miller, who he says was

  ‘in our sector’ and ‘an honest chap, who tried to satisfy everyone except when the economic inspectors were about. Then he said, “Not today.” ’ This implied a

  clientage between townsmen and farmers who knew and trusted each other, evading the sparsely provided official market for their mutual benefit. Under the Occupation, adds

  Beugnet’s wife Léonie, ‘People knew each other better.’37 This ‘grey market’ in which goods were sold locally at a

  fair price was quite different from the long-distance black market engaged in by the Graeve family, selling to Parisians and Germans, in which huge profits could be made. The Germans, of course,

  did not pay for everything: tribute, produce, raw materials, transport and labour services were generally requisitioned without compensation. But much they did pay for in secret deals, and their

  appetite for the finer things of life was insatiable. The fact that the Graeve children were part of the Vichy administration demonstrated also that the desire for gain could eat away at the

  interior of a regime that had made a point of attributing the defeat of 1940 to selfishness and decadence and preaching the gospel of morality and self-sacrifice.




  The tension between those who became involved in the German webs of power, profit and pleasure and those who fought to maintain the integrity of the local community and keep matters under the

  control of local notables was well illustrated by the Chevalier–Longuépée affair. While the magistrates were keen to ensure the supremacy of French law and sort out the petty

  disputes of the community locally, others were prepared to exploit for financial gain the Germans’ sense that they had a right to the women of the defeated nation and to appeal to their

  German protectors over the heads of the local magistrates in order to get their way. For the least considered members of society such as women, who were denied the vote under the Third Republic and

  were expected, if bourgeois, to remain in the domestic sphere, the Occupation offered exciting possibilities of wielding power over those who conventionally despised them. Those who were shunned by

  conventional family-based small-town communities by dint of being separated, divorced, living in sin or by prostitution, who were drawn into relationships with Germans through domestic service,

  serving in bars or providing information, and were insulted as ‘Boche’, were now able to cast a spell by invoking the demonic force of the Germans and have their enemies imprisoned or

  spirited away to foreign parts.38




  The second lesson, however, is that despite such aberrations local French authorities were generally astute in mediating between the pressures imposed by the Germans and the fears and

  frustrations of the local populations for whom they were responsible. In Chinon the commemoration of Joan of Arc Day and the defence of the statue of Rabelais increased the

  prestige of the local authorities in the eyes of their citizens. The irresponsible daubing of anti-German graffiti could not be tolerated, however, and the same authorities were obliged to

  demonstrate to the Germans that they had the matter under control. The Germans were happy with a system of ‘indirect rule’, whereby French local government was allowed a certain

  autonomy so long as it could deliver public order. The Chevalier–Longuépée affair showed the risk of allowing private individuals direct access to the Germans who then dictated

  terms to the French authorities. The latter eventually managed to convince the Germans that to allow the likes of Mme Longuépée to terrorize a small town by repeated denunciations was

  in the interests of neither of them, and indirect rule was restored. Even the killing of the German sentry in Tours, the repercussions of which reached as far as Chinon, did not prevent

  negotiations between the prefect and the Feldkommandant at Tours to defuse the situation and to divert German reprisals on to hard-core communist militants. The Labussière affair finished

  tragically because the new prefect Musso went down the road of close collaboration with the Gestapo and a hard line against the Resistance, rather than playing a more cunning game that might have

  kept local incidents hidden from German prying and saved the doctor.




  The final lesson is how the meaning of patriotism evolved between 1940 and 1945. Henri Mattraits, lionized in 1940 for saving his town from destruction and standing firm on the quai as

  the Germans marched in, was thrust aside in 1945 for having accepted office under Vichy against the rules of republican legitimacy invented by the government-in-waiting. To have been a good

  shepherd, a father to one’s people, when the French state had to all intents and purposes ceased to exist, was now not enough. It was necessary to have resisted the Germans or at least to

  have refused unelected office in the Vichy regime, and only a surfeit of the former was enough to purge the latter. Pierre Labussière, who had fallen foul of Vichy by his indiscreet abuse of

  Marshal Pétain and of the Germans for allegedly undermining STO, was acclaimed as a Resistance hero but was also a martyr to the cause. The most effective navigation of the fickle tides of

  patriotism was that of Paul Cay. Though a Vichy official, he was sensitive to the changing balance of power between the Allies and the shifting opinions of French citizens and

  was careful not to lock himself into a lost cause. He played an expert double game, giving his superiors to believe that he was committed to the regime while secretly building bridges to the

  Resistance. Rumbled by his superiors a few months before the Liberation, he abandoned Vichy just in time to secure credibility with the shadow republican government that was forming and to ensure

  his promotion at the Liberation as the new prefect’s right-hand man at Tours. Contrary to the myth elaborated by de Gaulle, there was for the overwhelming majority of French people no

  unbroken thread between the General’s appeal to continue the struggle in June 1940 and his march down the Champs-Élysées in liberated Paris in August 1944. Most French people

  followed Pétain for most of the Occupation, then de Gaulle. To abandon one for the other too soon was dangerous, to do it too late imprudent. In Vichy France choices guided by heroism were

  rarely as conducive to survival as those based on an ability to see one step ahead in a very murky world.




  
 





  
2. ENCOUNTER




  On 18 June 1940, as the recently formed government of Marshal Pétain sued for an armistice, General de Gaulle, broadcasting on the BBC, famously told the French people

  that although the battle of France was lost, the war – a world war – was not over.




  

    

      Crushed by superior mechanical force today, we can conquer in the future by virtue of a superior mechanical force. There lies the destiny of the world . . .

      Whatever happens, the flame of French resistance must not be extinguished and will not be extinguished.1


    


  




  That Tuesday, a fine day, the French were unlikely to be tuning into the BBC or even to pay much heed to de Gaulle’s message if they happened to hear it. The German army had swept all

  before it in a lightning campaign since 5 June. The government abandoned Paris on 10 June and declared it an ‘open city’ which would not be defended against the oncoming Germans, who

  entered it on the 14th. The roads were clogged by a jumble of retreating soldiers and civilians fleeing for fear of atrocities the Germans might commit, as they had on the previous invasions in

  1870 and 1914. The prefect of Loire-Inférieure reported a ‘veritable wave of refugees’ driven before the German armies, confident that if they could cross the Loire they would

  somehow be safe.2 By the middle of June there were over 250,000 refugees in his department, Belgians followed by inhabitants of the Nord/Pas-de-Calais, the

  Ardennes and Alsace-Lorraine. Marinette Rameau, a young bourgeoise of Angers, whom we shall meet again in the next chapter, noted in her diary on 17 June that ‘the spectacle on the roads is

  lamentable: routed soldiers in twos and threes, refugees pulling the most heterogenous vehicles with difficulty . . . Exhausted, they are walking like automatons towards a single vague goal: the south.’ Her parents gave a short lift to a woman, wearing all her jewels, travelling with her son; they were bound for Bordeaux and hoped in the midst of all the

  chaos that the boy would still be able to take his baccalauréat.3 As the Germans inexorably approached, families in threatened towns had to

  decide whether to stay or go. While the Rameaus quickly returned home, another bourgeois family of Angers, hearing bombs falling on the local aerodrome, decided to leave the city for the island of

  Noirmoutier off Nantes where they had a secondary home and were convinced they would be safe. By the end of the month, however, 4,000 Germans had occupied the island, taking over the summer chalets

  and swimming in the sea every morning.4




  As the German forces drove south, the French high command tried one last throw of the dice: to hold up the enemy on the Loire by blowing up the bridges across the river, and defending the towns

  along it, allowing the retreating army as much time as possible to keep ahead of the invaders. The decision to defend the Loire and its towns struck panic into the hearts of local citizens,

  municipal authorities and refugees. A wedge was driven between the military commanders and civilians who understood that any defence of their town would expose it to aerial and artillery

  bombardment and a potential massacre in the streets. Since the rumours of atrocities committed by German soldiers were turning out to be groundless (and it later transpired that they were under

  strict instructions to act with discipline and courtesy) civilians became much more fearful of the consequences of resisting than of surrender.




  In the annals of the French military one operation stood out as worthy of its glorious past. Saumur, less than 20 miles west of Chinon, overlooked by a chocolate-box castle as perfect as that of

  Chinon was in ruins, was the home of the French Cavalry School, from which many of the military élite graduated. For three days, from 19 to 21 June 1940, the cadets of the school undertook a

  heroic defence of the Loire over a wide front in order to protect the retreat of the French army. When further resistance became impossible a small unit gathered to bear away the standard of the

  school, lest it fall into German hands. Almost immediately the cadets of Saumur acquired a mythical status which will be examined later.5




  In June 1940, however, in Saumur as elsewhere, soldiers and civilians were at each other’s throats over the question of resistance or surrender. The mayor of Saumur, a

  vigorous radical–socialist called Robert Amy, whose son was in fact killed in action that month, was desperate to prevent his town being turned into a battlefield. According to the

  government, towns of over 20,000 inhabitants were to be declared ‘open cities’ and would not be defended, but Saumur was not big enough to fall into that category. Meanwhile, the

  commander of the Cavalry School, Colonel Michon, was adamant that his orders were to defend Saumur and the Loire and that he counted on the mayor’s patriotism to support his efforts. The

  general commanding the sector, whom Amy reached by telephone, refused to change his orders and equally refused to order the evacuation of the town. On 19 June the Germans began to shell Saumur and

  the population hid in either cellars or limestone caves in the cliffs, or fled. On the 20th the Germans entered the town, seized the elderly Procureur de la République, Louis Ancelin, as a

  hostage, and took him by sidecar to military headquarters at Chinon. There the German general threatened reprisals against Saumur for the killing by French fire of a German sent to parley under a

  white flag, thereby violating the laws of war. Ancelin replied that he knew nothing of the incident and was not a soldier but a magistrate, although he had been four times wounded in the Great War

  as an officer and held the Legion of Honour. At this the German general saluted him, saying, ‘We respect the combatants of the last war, who defeated us, but we despise the little rabbits of

  this one.’ Ancelin was released and driven back by Major Wahrenburg, a portly Prussian who was to take command at Saumur and, as a magistrate in civilian life, looked forward to sorting out

  with Ancelin differences between French and German law thrown up by the Occupation.6




  For mayors and magistrates the overriding concern in June 1940 was not resistance but avoiding military confrontation that could inflict terrible damage on the civilian population. Mayors

  summoned emergency meetings of town councillors and other notables, including bishops who had not been welcome in town halls for the seventy-year duration of the anticlerical Third Republic, in

  order to construct a lobby for cease-fire. Frantic telephone conversations took place between mayors and the government, now evacuated to Bordeaux, about whether their town was to be treated as an

  ‘open city’, between mayors and military commanders asking them to leave rather than defend the town, and ultimately directly between mayors and German military

  commanders about its surrender. They were not operating in a vacuum but under pressure from the local population and passing refugees who were so averse to combat that they were prepared to disarm

  French soldiers who were too keen to have a go at the Boche.




  Tours had been capital of France for two days, on 12–13 June 1940, after the French government, as in 1870, abandoned Paris in the face of the approaching Germans. While the ministers set

  up base in the château of Cangé, a few miles to the east on the outskirts of Amboise forest, Churchill and his staff arrived with a Hurricane squadron for a meeting of the Supreme

  Allied War Council at the prefecture of Tours. The airfield had already been cratered by German bombs, no one came to meet them, and a café owner who claimed he was closed had his arm

  twisted to provide lunch for the British prime minister. At the prefecture Churchill found Interior Minister Mandel, Clemenceau’s former secretary, shouting orders down two telephones at once

  and inspiring hope ‘like a ray of sunshine’. Unfortunately, though, Mandel was not a member of the Supreme War Council, convened at 3.30 p.m. with eight Britons and two Frenchmen, the

  dithering premier Paul Reynaud and the silken secretary of the French war cabinet, Paul Baudouin. Reynaud asked, on behalf of his government, what Britain’s attitude would be if the French,

  notwithstanding the Franco-British agreement of 28 March not to conclude a separate peace with Germany, did so if the worst came to the worst. Churchill replied that the British government could

  not agree to release the French from their obligations, but said that they would not descend to reproaches or recriminations if they did sue for an armistice.7 It was no doubt a mistake that Churchill was not invited to address the French ministers at Cangé, to stiffen their resolve, for their meeting at 5 p.m. was dominated by

  the ‘defeatists’ under Marshal Pétain, who now made a formal proposition that government seek an armistice with Germany, as ‘the necessary condition of the survival of

  eternal France’.8 As the ministers headed off for Bordeaux, the population of Tours unwittingly made clear that their sympathies lay more with

  Pétain than Churchill: the fighting must stop. The Germans resumed their bombardment of the aerodrome and the city and arrived on the banks of the Loire on 18 June.




  That day, as de Gaulle in London appealed to the French to continue the fight, a delegation of the inhabitants of a neighbourhood to the east of the railway tracks at Tours

  marched to the Hôtel de Ville and told the mayor that if the city were defended they would not hesitate to throw themselves in front of the cannon of the French artillery-men.9 The mayor, Ferdinand Morin, himself of working-class origin, a practical socialist rather than an ideologue and from the pacifist wing of the party, convened a

  meeting with the prefect and archbishop of Tours, Mgr Gaillard, and made desperate calls to Bordeaux to have the city confirmed as open. But he was confronted by a military commander who claimed to

  have orders to hold up the Germans on the Loire for forty-eight hours. At 11 p.m. on 18 June the bridges over the Loire to the north of the city centre were blown up and a motley collection of

  troops, many of them North African, took up positions in such places as the municipal library. The following morning they opened up on the Germans from the library with machine-guns and the Germans

  riposted by shelling the city. The wind whipped up a fire which burned for three days, killing about 100 people, destroying many ancient buildings and leaving 9,000 homeless.10 The librarian reported that pages of burning books were carried as far as Azay-le-Rideau and Chinon.11 On 20 June the Germans

  demanded the surrender of the city, and in an extraordinary scene of biblical symbolism, the mayor, prefect and (according to some accounts) the archbishop set off in the mayor’s own fishing

  boat across the Loire to where the Germans awaited them.12 Hoping against hope that the military had done their duty and that the civilians would remain

  disciplined, Morin promised on his honour and his life that there would be no resistance if a truce were granted, and the Germans entered Tours at dawn the following day.




  Whereas after the return of de Gaulle in 1944 some act of resistance was required for honour, in 1940 as the French state collapsed loyalties shrank very sharply from the patrie to

  one’s own town or village. The duty of a mayor in these circumstances was to show personal bravery by staying at his post but as father of his community not to expose his charges to

  unnecessary dangers. In July, while Morin was away in Vichy voting full powers to Marshal Pétain to restore the French state, the municipal council of Tours unanimously endorsed a motion

  that by going to meet the Germans and offering his honour and life as a guarantee he had ‘deserved well of the city’ by averting its ‘total ruin’.13 To underline the point, Morin was presented the following year with an embossed presentation volume the size of a pavement slab, signed by literally

  thousands of Tourangeaux, ‘workers and intellectuals, shopkeepers and civil servants, whatever their divergences of opinion of diversity of condition in the past’, according to the

  assistant mayor, who wished to thank Morin for saving the city and sparing hundreds of innocent lives.14




  To the west, at Angers, the same battle between soldiers and civilians was fought out. The Germans began to bomb the railway station and, although it had been announced on the radio that towns

  of over 20,000 inhabitants would be declared open cities, on 18 June French soldiers began to set up machine guns on the banks of the Maine in front of the medieval château. The inhabitants

  of the neighbourhood implored them not to fire on the Germans, for fear of the consequences.15 The local military commander was insistent that Angers

  should be defended, but the mayor, Victor Bernier, a tight-lipped and sharp-featured pharmacist, called an emergency council meeting which resolved that Angers was not in a position to stand a

  siege and did not want to see bridges blown up or women, children or the elderly evacuated.16 The deadlock was broken the following day by a phone call

  from a French-speaking Captain Stein of the approaching German forces who claimed to be with a division and threatened to reduce Angers to ashes with heavy artillery and Stukas if the slightest

  resistance was shown. The French commander was persuaded not to defend the bridges over the Maine which led to the city centre, although he did not exclude a defence of the Loire, to the south of

  the city. Mayor Bernier travelled by car with the prefect and a French officer to meet the Germans some miles north of the city and, like Morin, offered himself as a guarantee that there would be

  no resistance.17 On 20 June the local press carried an announcement that ‘all resistance and all armed opposition is formally prohibited and will

  be severely punished by the French authorities. The prefect and mayor appeal for calm, coolness and discipline on the part of the population.’18 As

  one Angers merchant wrote to a colleague who had left the city with his family, ‘Our good city gave itself up like a flower.’19 No discredit

  was done to the mayor, however. On the contrary, Victor Bernier was warmly thanked by the municipal council for ‘sparing the inhabitants a certain and useless massacre’, and duly

  remained in office until the last year of the Occupation.20




  At Nantes, the largest city in the region, the process of occupation went more smoothly in the short term, but the mayor did not distinguish himself either by a bravura

  performance as the Germans approached the city or by tactful and disciplined conduct subsequently. The idea of a ‘Breton redoubt’ or a bridgehead in Brittany permitting the British to

  support a last stand of the French army, which Churchill had tried to sell to Reynaud in the early part of June, quickly evaporated.21 There was no issue

  about Nantes being declared an open city, no frantic telephone calls or dangerous missions by car or boat. The Germans simply streamed in on lorries and motorcycles, while the Nantais crowded the

  pavements to gawp at them. ‘Civilians surrounded the soldiers and tried to question them, showing no animosity, while the Germans took photos of them,’ a schoolmaster wrote

  disapprovingly in his diary. ‘Similarly, as the the troops crossed the place Royale, the German soldiers waved at the children, inviting them to wave back, while other soldiers filmed the

  scene for propaganda purposes.’22 The curé of Sainte-Croix noted that the Nantais were hanging out of their windows to look at the Germans,

  while in the evening the German soldiers invaded the shops and markets, ‘mass-buying jewellery, silk stockings and binoculars, etc.’.23 There

  seemed to be an atmosphere of festivity rather than of mourning.




  Nantes, however, was a busy sea-port with a large population of seamen, dockers, factory workers and prostitutes and a tradition of left-wing politics, a simmering urban pot in a calm rural

  hinterland over which nobility and clergy still exercised influence almost unchallenged. Brothels were temporarily closed, but German soldiers shot the doors down and queued up four or five to a

  bedroom in seedy hotels to which the prostitutes had repaired. On the second night of the Occupation a German sentry, jostled by a passing black man, riddled him with bullets and tossed him into

  the Loire.24 The Feldkommandant or German military governor in Nantes was concerned by the indiscipline of his own troops but even more by the threat of

  resistance from the local population. Resuming a practice that had operated in occupied parts of France in 1870 and 1914–18, he required the municipality to draw up a list of hostages,

  preferably of notables with influence, of whom twenty a day would be kept at a hotel to guarantee the good order of the population. The municipality convened the town’s main authorities and

  organizations and a list of 300 potential hostages was drawn up.25 The bishop, Mgr Villepelet, offered himself for the first watch

  in the Hôtel Vendée and provided a list of thirty clergy. After a week the hostages were simply required to stay the night and the curé of Sainte-Croix noted that he had dined

  soberly with an architect, museum conservator and industrialist next to Germans who were loudly quaffing champagne.26 Early in July the Feldkommandant

  ruled that, given the ‘loyal and peaceful attitude of the population up to now’, hostages had no longer to sleep at the hotel but simply remain in town.27 The system was still operating a year later when the president of the Commercial Court, designated a hostage for the third or fourth time, complained that it should be

  democratized and all electors included.28 Democratized it was a month later, with terrible results.




  At the end of the day it was the mayor rather than a rota of hostages who answered for the good behaviour of the population. From the late summer of 1940 things in Nantes started to get worse,

  not better, and it soon transpired that the mayor was not part of a solution but part of the problem. For mayors to survive politically it was necessary for them to tread a difficult path between

  being a father of their citizens, protecting them against German aggression, and maintaining cordial relations with the German military authorities, insulating them from popular violence. Auguste

  Pageot, an emotional and somewhat tactless socialist, failed on both counts, and did not last in office beyond the first Christmas of the Occupation. One of the most common acts of resistance was

  to cut the communications cables laid by the German military for the effective functioning of their machine. Unable to find the culprits, the Germans responded by imposing massive fines on the

  local community, a collective punishment that was strictly forbidden under the Hague Convention of 1907, but to which they resorted anyway. After one telephone cable was cut at Nantes on 8 August

  1940 the Feldkommandantur imposed a collective fine of 2 million francs, followed by a second fine of 5 million francs when a second cable was cut on 8 September. Mayor Pageot claimed that he was

  unable to demand a further sacrifice from his townsfolk, and was already in trouble because of another incident. During the night of 30–1 August the war memorial in honour of the dead of

  1870, which depicted a nude hero of antiquity slaying a dragon, was overturned by chains attached to a lorry. The Germans wanted the municipality to remove the prone statue,

  which was attracting crowds and becoming a threat to public order, and telephoned the town hall three times to have something done. Mayor Pageot, however, wanted to make patriotic capital out of

  the incident, and proposed to lead the municipal council in a body to lay a wreath on the ruin. He stormed into the Feldkommandantur where the Feldkommandant and the prefect had just agreed that

  the statue must be removed and that French and German police should conduct parallel investigations into who was responsible: one theory was that the culprits were fairground people. Pageot

  interrupted them to protest at what he called a premeditated provocation by the Germans which ‘wounded our most worthy patriotic sentiments to the depths of our hearts’, and said that

  he was ordering the work to remove the statue to cease, so that the people of Nantes could meditate more deeply on the brutality of the Occupation. The following day the municipal council met to

  consider Pageot’s motion to lay a wreath as a body, but was split; accordingly, the mayor went alone before lunch to lay a wreath with a tricolour ribbon inscribed from the ‘town of

  Nantes’.29




  As a result of this incident and others, the exasperated Feldkommandant realized that he could no longer work with Pageot, who was arrested on 10 October and thrown into prison. When the

  municipal council voted their solidarity with their mayor, the Feldkommandant thought of having them arrested too, but decided against it. He himself was treading a narrow path between insisting on

  the cooperation of the French authorities and averting any measure that would needlessly provoke the Nantais. He hesitated between court-martialling the mayor and releasing him on condition that he

  resigned, but this Pageot refused to do until just before Christmas. He was duly released from prison and exiled to the Free Zone to prevent him stirring up more trouble in Nantes.30 The striking thing about the episode as a whole is that the prefecture at Nantes supported the Feldkommandant against a mayor who was less patriotic than irascible

  and rude, and that the Nantais did not rise up – as the Feldkommandant feared they might – to protest against the dismissal of their mayor. Franco-German accommodation was an art that

  had to be learned in the interest of all parties, and most parties managed it extremely well.




  The settlement of this issue involved German authorities not only in Nantes but also in Angers and Paris and set in motion the institutional framework of the military

  administration which the Germans imposed on Occupied France. This resembled a colonial administration with the difference that it was exercised over a highly civilized western European country. At

  the pinnacle was the Militärbefehlshaber in Frankreich (MBF) or military commander in France, based in Paris at the Hôtel Majestic, avenue Kléber. The two generals who occupied

  this post were cousins who sprang from the Prussian military aristocracy, Otto von Stülpnagel until the spring of 1942, then Carl-Heinrich von Stülpnagel.31 Born respectively in 1878 and 1886, they were representatives of German military might from the Imperial age and far from being Hitlerian. Otto, as we shall see, disagreed

  with his superiors over the ruthless strategy of reprisals implemented by the Army High Command in 1941, while Carl-Heinrich struggled against the tightening grip of the secret police and was

  executed as a traitor after the bomb plot of 20 July 1944 against Hitler. Under the military command for the whole of France were the four regional military administrations: District B, based in

  Angers, was the so-called South-western Region. The first regional commander, General Karl-Ulrich Neumann-Neurode, born in Silesia in 1876, was a shadowy figure of whom little is known except that

  he loved animals.32 In July 1942 he was replaced by General Kurt Feldt, a West Prussian of the 24th Panzer Division, who was ten years younger.

  Subordinate to the regional commander were the Feldkommandants, one to each department, whose opposite numbers were the French prefects. In April 1941 the Vichy government gave some of their

  prefects new responsibility as regional prefects, supervising a group of departments and hoping to operate with more clout vis-à-vis the German military. The crucial interface of

  Feldkommandant and prefect, however, was scarcely changed. At the base of the German military administration were the Kreiskommandants, one to each arrondissement, whose opposite numbers

  were the French subprefects. This was the link that operated, for example, in the small town of Chinon.33
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  The organization chart of corresponding authorities of course says very little about the reality of relations between French and German officials, which were more than simply a brutal

  relationship between occupiers and occupied. Negotiations had to be entered into, and negotiations were facilitated by good personal relations and a common cultural framework of military honour,

  European civilization and Christian religion. The defusing of the Pageot affair in Nantes, for example, was made possible by the good working relationship of the

  Feldkommandant, the prefect’s interpreter and the ruling notables of Nantes. The Feldkommandant, Lieutenant-Colonel Hotz, was no stranger to Nantes when he arrived as military governor in

  1940. Born in 1877 at Wertheim-am-Main, he had learned French while serving in the garrison of Metz, which from 1871 to 1918 was part of Imperial Germany. Attached to the Bavarian general staff

  during the First World War, he then went into industry and was in Nantes from 1930 to 1933 as manager of Brandt of Düsseldorf, which was diverting the waters of a tributary of the Loire into

  an underground canal system through the city centre with funds from the Dawes Plan. Highly musical, Hotz bought the latest popular songs from Les Trois Rossignols and played the piano in the salons

  of the bourgeoisie and nobility of Nantes.34 After he returned to Nantes in 1940 he was invited to play the trumpet at the château of the Marquise

  Yolaine de Sesmaisons outside Nantes. Her husband, Olivier de Sesmaisons, belonged to a military nobility which could trace its ancestry back to the time of Saint Louis and as a large landowner was

  an influential local politician.35 According to their sons, whom I interviewed in 1998, the French and German military castes were drawn together by

  ‘a sense of honour, courtesy and the chivalric spirit’, which transcended national boundaries.36 Unlikely though this may seem at the time of

  the Third Reich, it should be remembered that these German officers of the military administration were usually in their sixties, trained in the Second Reich and veterans of the 1914–18 war,

  during which they had learned to respect their opposite numbers in the French military.




  National boundaries were also transcended by a sense of belonging to a common European civilization. Hotz’s link with the prefecture was Edmond Duméril, a German master at the

  Lycée Clemenceau who was seconded as interpreter at the prefecture to liaise with the occupying authorities. Duméril expected to meet a large brutal Prussian at the Feldkommandantur

  but instead found ‘an old man, dry, short, dressed in an artillery officer’s uniform’, with a ‘broad smile and kindly expression’. He discovered that they had studied,

  ten years apart, under the same professors at the University of Tübingen. The ages of these individuals were as important culturally as militarily. Duméril regarded Hotz, aged

  sixty-three, as a representative of the old, civilized Germany, quite different from the young Nazi Schuster who was his immediate subordinate in the military administration.

  While Schuster listened to Hitler’s every word on the radio, Hotz hid a history book under his papers and in conversation applauded Duméril’s citation of Goethe’s words on

  the death of Schiller.37




  A third factor that brought French and German elites together was organized religion. Most Germans admittedly were Protestants, and Mgr Villepelet, bishop of Nantes, used the excuse that his

  cathedral was Catholic to deny the German authorities the right to use it.38 Relations with Hotz’s successor, Baron von und zu Bodman, were much

  better, because he was a Bavarian Catholic. ‘He is so distinguished and well educated,’ mused the bishop when they met in December 1941, ‘one can sense that he is of noble

  race.’ They spoke of the baron’s origins in Munich, and the bishop asked him if he knew Cardinal Falhauber. ‘Not only do I know him,’ replied the baron, raising the stakes,

  ‘but I also know the Pope, who I often saw at Munich when he was nuncio. I even went to his coronation.’ Moving on to royalty, he spoke of Queen Elizabeth of the Belgians, widow of King

  Albert, who was a Bavarian princess, of the young King Leopold who had recently remarried, and of the royal children.39 Mgr Villepelet, a doctor’s

  son but a prince of the Church, felt much more at ease with this ambassador of the German Reich than he ever had with French republican officials elected or appointed under the Popular Front.




  In the Angers region the key relationship was between the French prefect (later regional prefect), Jean Roussillon, and the Feldkommandant, Colonel Kloss. Kloss was clear that the French

  administration must bend to German will and expressed pleasure at the intention of the prefect and his subordinates ‘to work loyally with the Germans’. He was clear also that German

  authority and the German military must be accorded respect. But he realized, too, that if the French were to consent in any way to German rule it would be necessary to maintain at least the

  illusion that they were still being run by French administrators who enjoyed some independence. For his part Roussillon needed to extract as many concessions as possible from the German authorities

  to make the Occupation tolerable for the French. On the other hand, given the lack of communication with the French government at Vichy in the non-occupied part of France,

  Roussillon came to learn that the support of the German military regime actually gave him an authority and effectiveness vis-à-vis the French population that he could not otherwise have

  contemplated. The relationship between Feldkommandant and prefect was therefore much more complex than a simple one of command and obey, reproducing as it did the system of ‘indirect

  rule’ between colonizers and indigenous elites as developed in the British Empire by Frederick Lugard, former governor-general of Nigeria.40




  A good working partnership was built up between Roussillon and Kloss, the former reporting that relations were ‘more than courteous: they are almost trusting and based on a reciprocal

  loyalty. They could quite easily become cordial.’ Thanks to this ‘spirit of comprehension with Kloss,’ he clarified, ‘the measures ordered by the Military High Command [in

  Paris] are applied with moderation and flexibility in Maine-et-Loire’.41 Unfortunately, the build-up of confidence on a local level was all too

  often interrupted by the redirection of officials in accordance with the wider needs of the military or civil bureaucracies. In April 1941 Colonel Kloss moved from Angers to Tours, from where he

  was to run both Indre-et-Loire and Maine-et-Loire as a single large Feldkommandantur. Roussillon regretted the departure of Kloss who, he said, had kept the German military on a tight leash and

  prevented them from abusing the French population. Now, he said, ‘We are confronted by subaltern officers who do not care to shoulder too much responsibility and do not have the same

  authority or influence over the troops.’ He took solace from Kloss’s promise to visit Angers once a week, a promise that, given his busy schedule, he was not able to keep.

  Roussillon’s opposite number from this point was less the regional commander General Neumann-Neurode, whom he nevertheless found ‘considerate’ and ‘courteous’ when

  they did meet, than General Dr Medicus, chief of the administrative section of District B. After a couple of months Roussillon was heaping the same praises on Medicus that he had accorded to Kloss,

  saying that his influence had grown rapidly in the District, that his ‘pro-French sympathies, which he demonstrated at every possible opportunity’, had made the confident relationship

  that he had enjoyed with Kloss still stronger and had even served to reinforce the authority of the French administration. After Medicus returned to Angers following a brief posting to Greece in

  the summer of 1941 Roussillon was even more extravagant with his superlatives, praising the German’s ‘perfect propriety and and remarkable understanding of the

  French mentality’.42




  Meanwhile, the French authorities in Tours were in their turn discovering the advantages of having Colonel Kloss at the Feldkommandantur. His predecessor, Captain Marloh, had been

  particularly harsh and unyielding, and no tears were shed when he and his team were sent off to Belorussia. Jean Chaigneau, the prefect of Indre-et-Loire, said that he was ‘delighted by the

  ease and courtesy of my relationship with the German authorities, which are due in large measure to the understanding of Colonel Kloss’.43 The

  German authorities were similarly impressed by Chaigneau, not least because he had a distinguished career in the 1914–18 War. ‘He works well and conscientiously with the German

  administration,’ noted one confidential report. ‘His reputation as a clever and energetic administrative civil servant goes before him.’ A comparison with the number two in the

  prefecture of Tours, Secretary-General René Feld, confirms that the German ideal of a good French official was one who was brisk, straight-dealing and even courageous with it. Feld, the

  Germans observed, always worked hard to meet German demands fully but was ‘soft of character’.44 His shifty conduct may have been explained

  by the need to conceal his Romanian-Jewish origins by over-zealousness in the German cause. The French saw only the over-zealousness and in some circles in Tours his reputation was crisply summed

  up by his nickname: Feld-kommandant.45




  Relations between French and German officials were established not only within a system of personal contacts and common cultural assumptions but also within a legal framework defined by both the

  armistice convention and international law. When the Germans arrived in Nantes, notices immediately went out to the civil authorities instructing them to ‘use all their energy to ensure that

  no individual undertakes any act of hostility against the German army or the German military command’. Once French armies had laid down their arms it was understood that all resistance would

  cease; and yet the Germans were worried in the early days that the Occupation would encounter massive popular opposition. The Kommandantur of Nantes told the town hall that ‘any passive

  resistance, act of violence, sabotage or work stoppage must be prevented with the utmost rigour, and the guilty parties arrested and punished’. He went on to list the crimes that were subject

  to martial law: ‘1. Assistance given to non-German soldiers in occupied territory; 2. Transmission of information to the detriment of the German army and Reich; 3.

  Assistance to French POWs; 4. Offences against the German army and its commanders’. He added a further list of punishable offences: street gatherings, distribution of leaflets, public

  meetings and demonstrations, and any other activity hostile to Germany.46




  This may have seemed like law by Diktat but in fact the Germans were operating within the terms of international law governing occupation administrations drafted by the great powers at

  The Hague in 1907 and added to by France and Germany in the Armistice Convention of 1940. The Armistice was not a peace treaty and made provisions for a situation that was by definition temporary,

  before any peace treaty was signed. Military occupation, moreover, did not abolish French sovereignty, which extended formally into Occupied France, but balanced it against the security needs of

  the occupying forces. The French government was free to make laws but always within the requirements of German military security. In pursuit of that security the German authorities could make their

  own laws and if necessary overrule French laws that conflicted with them. The French people were guaranteed protection of their lives, property and religion so long as they admitted defeat, obeyed

  the occupying authorities and offered no resistance. Resistance by non-combatants was not the same as war by soldiers: it was regarded as violating the laws of war and was punished under martial

  law. Under military occupation resources might be requisitioned for the needs of the Army of Occupation, but only in so far as the country could bear the burden and on issue of receipts which would

  later be honoured. One basic principle laid down was that communities could not be considered collectively responsible for acts committed by individuals. Collective punishments, such as

  hostage-taking or collective fines, were thus prohibited.47




  Despite the legal attempt to reconcile French sovereignty and German security, in practice they tended to conflict. When French rights came up against German military security, which was to give

  way? There was no international tribunal to which appeal could be made. Communications between French authorities in the Occupied Zone and Vichy were deliberately frustrated by the Germans and had

  to be carried on indirectly through the Delegate-General of the French Government in the Occupied Territories (DGGFTO), who from January 1941 was Fernand de Brinon, together

  with a delegate of the interior minister, the rather faceless Jean-Pierre Ingrand of the Conseil d’État, all resident in Paris. Ingrand effectively had the powers of a ‘minister

  in partibus’, while the Delegate-General had the status of ambassador and in effect was serving in a foreign country under German rule.48 It

  did not help that de Brinon was himself highly devious and manipulative, intent on ingratiating himself with the Germans as a counterweight to Vichy rather than defending French interests, a path

  that led to his being shot as a collaborator after the war. In the event the French administration in the Occupied Zone was very much isolated from Vichy and left to fend for itself. The extent of

  French sovereignty depended on daily negotiations between French and German authorities in the regions and departments. As well as the declarations of cordiality and trust we have witnessed there

  were veritable wars of nerves, feinting and fencing, threats and blandishments, bluff and counter-bluff, claims to more power or resources than were actually to hand.




  One issue over which French and German authorities struggled for the upper hand was the appointment and dismissal of mayors. Vichy legislation on local government was applicable in all parts of

  France, and at the end of 1941 the German authorities renounced the right to have a say in the appointment of mayors as a result of talks in the Franco-German commission overseeing the terms of the

  Armistice.49 In practice, the German authorities were happy to respect the local administration in place, so long as it effectively carried out the task

  of maintaining order, that is, of insulating the Army of Occupation from any popular discontent. Towns like Nantes and Saint-Nazaire, large ports with a tradition of labour militancy, were regarded

  as particularly sensitive. The warm relationship between Feldkommandant Hotz and the prefecture of Loire-Inférieure did not prevent Hotz, as we have seen, from arresting the clumsily

  patriotic socialist mayor, Pageot, forcing him to resign, and exiling him to the Free Zone. Hotz’s successor at Nantes, Baron von und zu Bodman, may have been emollience itself in his

  dealings with the bishop of Nantes, but when it came to Ferdinand Blancho, the socialist mayor of Saint-Nazaire who resigned in opposition to Vichy but remained the hero and possible demagogic

  leader of the dockers, he brooked no compromise. During heated debates in February 1942 Regional Prefect Roussillon argued that Blancho was under police surveillance and that

  tougher action would only provoke the dockers. Bodman insisted that it was precisely his influence over the dockers that made his departure necessary, and Blancho was duly put on a train for Paris,

  whence he travelled south and joined the Resistance.50




  The rules of the Occupation thus evolved according to case law rather than legal principle. This was the situation as much in the judicial system as in the administration. In order to protect

  the security of the military, the Germans established a network of military courts to administer martial law. Any action deemed to threaten German military security was brought before the military

  court, although other cases were left to the French system of civil and criminal courts. The German military courts were tough, but not arbitrary, and worked according to set procedures. The

  accused was entitled to defence provided by a French barrister, although the pleading had to be in German. In Nantes, the defence was generally provided by Maître Guineaudeau, with

  Duméril on hand to translate. ‘Until the death of Hotz,’ Guineaudeau reported after the war, ‘we obtained a good deal from the staff of the German justice system. I would

  say that they had a sort of professional conscience to which we could appeal. The judges did not think in the same way as the police. Often we were able to save heads.’51




  One of the tasks of the French defence was to convince the German judges that opposition to the Occupation was often ritual or comic rather than a threat to security. The twenty-three-year-old

  son of a magistrate who amused himself and German soldiers by drawing caricatures of them in the Grand Café on the place de la Bourse at Nantes, for example, found himself in deep water when

  he drew a caricature of the Führer which they found insulting. He was sentenced to two months in prison by the military court until French lawyers persuaded the Germans to have a greater sense

  of humour and he was released. Similarly, a country priest who let the children in his Sunday-school group laugh at a scarecrow wearing a German helmet was threatened with three months in prison

  until the French defence convinced the court that ‘to laugh while passing by but without stopping was not an offence’. More tricky was the case of Arthur Martineau, a

  sixty-five-year-old cement merchant of Sainte-Marie-de-la-Mer who had an obsessive desire to cut German telephone wires. On the first occasion his death penalty was lifted after the French medical witness convinced the court that he had suffered brain damage as a result of a cerebral haemorrhage. Unfortunately, after his release he repeated the offence and was

  promptly shot.52




  The German system of military justice was neither as severe as might be imagined, at least in the early years of the Occupation, nor as pervasive. When the German military administration of

  District B tried to take cognizance of the case of two traders illegally selling above the fixed price and Prefect Roussillon resisted, he was supported by de Brinon in Paris who argued that under

  the Hague Convention occupying powers were authorized to act to ensure public order, but while price hikes might in theory affect public order, there was no reason for them not to be dealt with by

  the French courts. Sometimes the German military courts themselves did not wish to become involved in exclusively French matters.53 When one man in

  Touraine tried to bring a defamation suit against two brothers who had called him a ‘bandit’ and a ‘Boche’, the German military court promptly returned the dossiers to the

  French court, saying that it was ‘a quarrel between two French people’.54 This is not to say that any case that went before the French courts

  was dealt with leniently and with due process. The Vichy government invented its own system of exceptional courts, the so-called Sections Spéciales, in order to deal with the communist

  threat. Immortalized by the Costa-Gavras 1975 film, they were found not just in Paris but wherever a regional Appeal Court could mutate into one of them. They effectively spared the Germans the

  business of repression they would otherwise have had to undertake themselves, and made a speciality of arbitrariness. The Section Spéciale of Angers sat for the first time in September 1941

  and was particularly fond of handing out heavy sentences to anyone who so much as sang the Internationale. One young man received three years for singing it in a café, while a tax

  official received five years for teaching it to a band of peasants in a farm courtyard and conducting them.55




  Negotiating the Occupation involved not only individuals but communities. Any critical moment, such as the death of a French or German person in confused circumstances, might suddenly bring a

  community where life was otherwise uneventful into a matrix which involved the Occupation forces, the Feldgendarmerie and French police, mayors and their councils, the subprefect and

  Kreiskommandant, the prefect and Feldkommandant, and possibly higher authorities too. Everything here was at stake, from finding the guilty party to calming local troops and

  the local community and preserving the reputation and honour of the French and German authorities. Three deaths in two communities within the space of a couple of months may be used to investigate

  French and German nerves at their rawest and negotiating skills at their highest premium.




  After the heroic fighting by the military cadets of Saumur in June 1940 the Cavalry School was turned into a temporary POW camp, before evacuation to camps in Germany was organized. On Christmas

  Eve 1940 three French soldiers escaped from the camp and took refuge in a labourer’s cottage. They were tracked down by German soldiers and one of the Frenchmen was shot as he hid under a

  bed. The funeral was attended by the subprefect, Robert Milliat, who was writing a book on the epic achievement of the cadets of Saumur, by notables of the town, by veterans’ associations and

  also, in a spirit of reconciliation, by an escort of German soldiers and two German officers representing the camp commander.56 Good relations in the

  town seemed to weather this incident, but two months later they were threatened when a roofer named Frank Le Cosquer was killed by a German patrol doing its rounds in Saumur. The version of the

  Feldgendarmerie was that Le Cosquer, arrested for being without papers, proceeded to kick and punch his captors and was shot while trying to escape. Milliat told the Kreiskommandant, Major von

  Wahrenburg, that such trigger-happiness was regrettable and that it would be better if German soldiers only used their weapons when their lives were in danger. He underlined his point by attending

  the funeral, at which 1,500 citizens turned out, in full uniform and at the head of the municipal council. Wahrenburg felt that this demonstration had been instigated by the prefect, and Kloss

  wrote angrily to Roussillon to protest at this challenge to the Wehrmacht’s honour. Roussillon replied that Le Cosquer had been an ‘honest worker who gave no trouble’ and that he

  had acted both to ‘appease the painful emotions that had gripped the community’ and to ‘restore a climate indispensable to a good understanding between the Army of Occupation and

  the civilian population’. Kloss refused to give way, saying that if the prefect had been apprised of the full facts he would not have turned the funeral into a demonstration.57




  The stubbornness of both parties left the tension in Saumur unresolved. Relations were not helped by another killing, a day before, in the usually quiet town of Cholet.

  Though an industrial centre, Cholet was an outpost of the Vendée and firmly under the control of paternalistic employers and the Catholic Church. There was great confusion and bewilderment,

  therefore, when a German soldier, Corporal Müller, was shot late at night by a civilian with a revolver who then escaped into the darkness. Suspecting an act of resistance, Colonel Kloss

  immediately had the mayor arrested, decreed a curfew after 8 p.m., closed all cafés and restaurants, and imposed a fine of 1 million francs on the townspeople. This time the funeral was

  staged as a German military occasion, with a band playing and a volley of rifles, to impress the local people with the honour attributed to an ordinary German soldier. The mayor, Alphonse

  Darmaillacq, a textile factory owner, later wrote that he was forced to follow the cortège. Kloss, however, who came to Cholet, said that 1,000 townsfolk attended, the men bareheaded

  ‘in the French custom’, that the mayor, subprefect and police commissioner expressed their sympathy personally to him, and that the mayor offered a substantial reward to anyone helping

  with the arrest of the culprit.




  All was not clear in Cholet, however, and doubts about the identity of the murderer accumulated. The Kreiskommandant of Cholet, Major von Trotha, persuaded Kloss to reopen the case. No serious

  crime had been committed in Cholet for seventeen years and relations between the Choletais and Germans had been good. The murderer was said to have spoken in German before he pulled the trigger.

  Müller had become separated from his mates between the Café-restaurant Tamisier and the Café Coeffard, a house of ill repute, because he went to meet a stranger at the

  Hôtel de France and was shot as he crossed the main square. It emerged that German soldiers often went out in civilian clothes at night, particularly when they were visiting brothels, so the

  evidence increasingly pointed to the fact that Müller was shot by a German soldier in civvies. It was not just a question of righting a wrong but of mollifying French public opinion. The

  German war effort was demanding more and more industrial labour and French workers had to be attracted on to projects such as building the Atlantic warships in Brittany. To alienate a usually quiet

  industrial town like Cholet by levying a massive fine to punish a crime that might not even have been committed by a Frenchman was simply counter-productive. On 28 April 1941

  Kloss therefore made the unprecedented gesture of refunding the million-franc fine to the citizens of Cholet.58
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